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Monday, April 4, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, everyone.  I would like to thank everybody for being here today in this nice spring day.

We're sitting here today on the matter of an application filed by Milton Hydro on August 28th, 2015 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  The application seeks approval for changes to the electricity distribution rates to be effective May 1st, 2016.

A settlement conference was held on January 25 and 26, 2016.  And on February 9th, Milton Hydro filed its proposal for a partial settlement with the OEB, where settlement was reached on all issues, with the exception of three issues:  The operation, maintenance, and administration costs, or -- sorry, OM&A for short; the cost of the new building purchased and renovated by Milton Hydro; and the calculation of the lost revenue adjustment mechanism variance account.

As described in Procedural Order No. 4, which was issued on March 17, this oral hearing will be limited to two issues:  OM&A costs and the new building.  The lost revenue adjustment mechanism variance account, as well as the sentinel light class bill impact issue, which was raised by OEB Staff in their submission, will be dealt with in writing.

My name is Emad Elsayed, and with me on the panel are the OEB Vice-Chair, Mr. Ken Quesnelle, and Board member Mr. Peter Thompson.

You should all have a copy of the hearing plan, which shows that we do expect to finish roughly about three o'clock tomorrow afternoon.

May I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, sir.  My name is James Sidlofsky, counsel to Milton Hydro.  I'm here this morning with Bruce Bacon, rate design consultant.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

DR. ELSAYED:  Morning.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Randy Aiken on behalf of Energy Probe.

DR. ELSAYED:  Morning.

MR. RICHLER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, members of the panel.  My name is Ian Richler, counsel to OEB Staff.  To my right is Harold Thiessen, the case manager from OEB Staff.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.

Any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I just have one, sir.  One of the outstanding matters, first of all, with respect to LRAM VA, we understand that the Board is dealing with that on a more generic basis at this point, so it won't be dealt with in this hearing.

The other item that wasn't going to be dealt with orally was the matter of the bill impact on sentinel lighting customers.  At this point under Procedural Order No. 5 the Board had directed that if the parties wished to propose a revision to the settlement as it relates to the bill impact for the sentinel light class, they should be doing so before the commencement of the oral hearing.

To date we haven't filed a proposal among the parties for the treatment of bill impacts related to that class, but I can tell you that discussions are going on.  Procedural Order No. 5 had provided that if nothing was filed prior to the hearing, Milton would file a submission on that issue by Wednesday of this week, April 6th, with parties, and then Milton Hydro in reply dealing with that issue in their written submissions.

As I mentioned, the parties are in discussions on a potential treatment of that.  I would like to suggest one adjustment to that timeline.  My suggestion is that the parties be allowed a bit more time to finalize their proposal on that for the Board, if there is going to be one.

And Milton Hydro would suggest that if we can't come to terms by Thursday of this week, April 7th, Milton would file its submission by Friday, April 8th.  And we suggest that that would still give Board Staff and the intervenors time to incorporate responses to any Milton Hydro submission into their written submissions due on the 12th, and we could then reply to those on the 18th.

So we would keep the April 12th and 18th time line for intervenor and Staff submissions and Milton's reply.  We would simply extend by just a couple of days the deadline for a Milton Hydro submission this week.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's fine.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.

DR. ELSAYED:  Any other matters?  Okay.  According to the -- well, maybe next, I guess, Mr. Sidlofsky, if you want to introduce your panel and proceed with your examination-in-chief?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Certainly.  Thank you, sir.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, before you proceed --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- we can affirm the panel first and then we'll do your examination-in-chief.  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning, panel.  Perhaps I could get each of you to state your name for the record?

MR. LASOWSKI:  My name is Frank Lasowski.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Cameron McKenzie.

MS. CORKUM:  Mary-Jo Corkum.

MR. PEREIRA:  Bruno Pereira.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Aldo Mastrofrancesco.
MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1


Frank Lasowski, Affirmed.

Cameron McKenzie, Affirmed.

Mary-Jo Corkum, Affirmed.

Bruno Pereira, Affirmed.

Aldo Mastrofrancesco, Affirmed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Mr. Sidlofsky, please proceed.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir.  In our correspondence that we had filed with the Board -- and that correspondence included the witness CVs -- I indicated that we would have two witness panels, and you can see that they've been divided in the hearing plan into the OM&A issue followed by the building issue.

The witness-panel composition will be the same.  It was felt, though, that it would be much more manageable to deal with these issues separately and recall the panel for the building issue.

So I'm going to start with OM&A, and I'm going to start by introducing the witnesses and taking them through their experience with Milton Hydro and their past experience in the sector, and that will be followed by a presentation by Ms. Corkum related to the OM&A issue.

Now, the witness CVs were filed with the Board with our correspondence.  I'm not sure if you would like to mark them separately as an exhibit this morning.  I have provided my friend Mr. Richler with copies, though.

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, I would suggest that we do go ahead and mark these as exhibits.  So how many CVs have you got to present?  One for everyone?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right.  It's a package of five.  Perhaps we can mark them as a single --


MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So we can mark that as Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  PACKAGE OF WITNESS CVS.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Milton Hydro has also provided copies of the two presentations that it will be making in this hearing, one on OM&A, the other on the building issue.  It would probably be helpful to have those marked as well.  We could mark them both right now or deal with the building one later.  I'm in your hands on that, sir.

DR. ELSAYED:  Might as well mark them now if you'd like.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So we'll mark OM&A presentation Exhibit K1.2, and the building presentation K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  OM&A PRESENTATION DOCUMENTS OF MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BUILDING PRESENTATION DOCUMENTS OF MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  If there is nothing else, I'll proceed.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please go ahead.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Lasowski, I understand you are the chief executive officer for Milton Hydro.

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you've been with the utility for seven years?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Prior to that, you were with FibreWired Burlington for four years, 2005 to 2009?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you were the chief engineer for Burlington Hydro from 1983 to 2005?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Professional Engineer?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand your engineering degree is from the University of Waterloo.

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes, it is.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a CPA designation, with a certified management accountant designation?


MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And what's your responsibility in this application, sir?

MR. LASOWSKI:  As president and CEO, I have overall responsibility for the preparation of the whole application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I'm going to move over to Ms. Corkum.  I understand you're the vice-president of finance for Milton Hydro.


MS. CORKUM:  I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that you been with the utility for eighteen years?

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And before that, you were the utility administration coordinator for the MEA, the Municipal Electric Association, now the Electricity Distributors Association?

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And from 1982 to 1992, you were with Price Waterhouse chartered accountants?

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a B. Comm, and you are certified as a chartered accountant; correct?

MS. CORKUM:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could you tell the Board your area of responsibility in this application?

MS. CORKUM:  I have overall responsibility for the OM&A portion of this application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Corkum.

Moving to you, Mr. McKenzie, you are the director of regulatory affairs for Milton Hydro?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand you've been with the utility for nine years.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Prior to that, you were with Horizon Utilities and Hamilton Hydro?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And before that, you were the finance manager for Stony Creek Hydro.


MR. MCKENZIE:  That’s correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I believe Stony Creek was one of the utilities that was amalgamated into Hamilton Hydro.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it was.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that would take you from 1981 through to 2009 with Hamilton Hydro and its successors; is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a BA in economics from McMaster.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Certified as a chartered professional accountant?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As a certified general accountant?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And could you tell the Board your area of responsibility in the application?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I am responsible for the preparation of the application itself.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Moving on to you, Mr. Pereira, you're the director of engineering for Milton Hydro?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, I am.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You've been with the utility since 2010.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Prior to that, two years with Norfolk Power as its vice president of engineering and operations?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you were with Hydro One Brampton for three years as manager of engineering?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You're a professional engineer?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you hold a diploma in electrical engineering from Ryerson, and an MBA from Athabaska University.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could you identify your area of responsibility in the application?

MR. PEREIRA:  I have overall responsibility for the evidence related to the maintenance of the Milton Hydro distribution system, system planning and engineering.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Finally, Mr. Mastrofrancesco, you are the director of operations for Milton Hydro?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand you've been with the utility for nine years.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  No, eighteen months.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Prior to that, sir?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I was with Hydro One Brampton.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That was vice-president of engineering and operations?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And before that, I understand you were with the Electrical Safety Authority and Enersource.

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a BSC in electrical engineering from the University of Waterloo?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And a Master's certificate in project management from Schulich?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you are certified as a professional engineer as well?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could you identify your area of responsibility in the application?

MR. MASTROFRANCESCO:  I have the overall responsibility for the evidence related to the operation of the Milton Hydro distribution system.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. McKenzie, perhaps I could direct this to you.  Was the evidence prepared by you and the other witnesses?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it was.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you adopt that evidence as your own in this proceeding?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you adopt Milton Hydro's responses to Board Staff and intervenors' interrogatories in this proceeding as your evidence?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I would like to answer that on behalf of both witness panels.  Most of the issues in this proceeding have been settled, so there already have been modifications to the revenue requirements and rates in our application as filed on August 28.

However, our request to the Board as it relates to our OM&A and 200 Chisholm Drive property remain as set out in the August 28 application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Moving to you Ms. Corkum, I understand that you've prepared a presentation to address the OM&A issue in the hearing; is that correct?

MS. CORKUM:  Yes, I have.

MR. MCKENZIE:  If I may, Mr. Sidlofsky, the responses to the interrogatories that we've made for pre-settlement and pre-hearing questions were prepared by Milton Hydro staff, and we adopt the responses as our own.

But we wish to be clear that not all the responses reflect Milton Hydro's requests in this application.  For example, we've been asked to perform calculations based on different scenarios provided by Staff and intervenors, and those scenarios may have involved changes in Milton Hydro's proposed revenue requirements.

We have performed the calculations and responded to the questions, but we do not agree those changes are necessarily appropriate or that those changes should be adopted by the Board.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Corkum, would you like to proceed?
Presentation by Ms. Corkum:


MS. CORKUM:  Sure.  So today my presentation will focus on Milton Hydro's operations, maintenance and admin expenses, OM&A.

The main messages we hope to convey today are Milton Hydro is not just a growing LDC; it has been in super growth mode since the early 2000s, and that growth is expected to continue into the foreseeable future.

Let me be clear.  There are no LDC comparators in terms of this level of growth in this province.  Milton Hydro services a large service territory, 371 square kilometres.  85 percent of that is rural.  Again, Milton Hydro serves far fewer customers per square kilometre than the average LDC.  Milton Hydro has consistently been below average in OM&A per customer compared to all LDCs in Ontario, and as compared to a peer group of LDCs of similar size, 25,000 to 100,000 customers, even taking into account our significant rural area.


Milton Hydro is known for being lean in terms of its staff levels, and has consistently been above average in customers per employee, serving 675 customers per employee in the latest 2014 yearbook, ranking it 12th highest in the province.  While transitioning to a larger LDC, continued investment is required in capital infrastructure and human resources to meet stakeholder expectations and their needs.

Finally, Milton is experiencing the same issues that many other LDCs are facing.  Succession, just over one- third of Milton Hydro employees are set to retire within ten years, with five management staff set to retire within two years.  Milton Hydro's proximity to the GTA has an impact on recruiting, retaining salary wages and benefits.  There is a shortage of skilled labour prevalent in the province, and just keeping up with technological advancements.

To understand where we are now and some of the challenges we face, I'm going to go over some material that has been previously been presented, but highlights our OM&A requirement.

In the year 2000, the Town of Milton’s population was 35,000, with Milton Hydro serving just over just around 11,000 customers.  In 2014, the Town of Milton's population surpassed 100,000 people, with Milton Hydro servicing over 34,000 customers, a 300 percent increase.

During this time, the Town of Milton gained the distinction of the fastest growing municipality in Canada, with a 71 percent increase in population between 2001 and 2006, and a 56 percent increase in population between 2006 and 2011.

Today Milton Hydro serves over 36,000 customers.  Approximately 2,000 of these customers reside in the rural area.  As you can see, Milton Hydro's service territory of 371 square kilometres is significant, with over 85 percent of that in the rural area.

As noted earlier, our service territory is significant.  Using the latest OEB statistical yearbook of 2014, Milton Hydro served 94.6 customers per square kilometre, compared to the average of LDCs in a peer group of 25,000 to 100,000 customer range, which -- the average was 318 customers per square kilometre, and servicing customers in rural areas where overhead lines are prevalent has proven to be more expensive than serving urban customers in most cases.

To get a sense as to where we were, in 2006 Milton Hydro served 20,000 customers, again approximately 2,000 of those in the rural area.  Ten years later, in 2016, Milton Hydro is projected to serve 36,700, an 80 percent increase from 2006.  Ten years from now, in 2026, the population of the Town of Milton, based on the Region of Halton's best planning estimates, is projected to be 195,000, which equates to approximately 65,000 Milton Hydro customers, another 78 percent increase from 2016.

And finally, as far as the region's projections go, Milton's population is expected to be -- the Town of Milton's population is expected to be 228,000, which equates to approximately 76,000 Milton Hydro customers, a 107 percent increase from 2016.

This chart highlights the dramatic increase in growth that the Town of Milton and Milton Hydro has experienced, with no end in sight.  By 2031 the Town of Milton will be comparable in size to the Town of Oakville, surpassing the City of Burlington.

Using data from the OEB statistical yearbook for the period 2011 to 2013 -- I mean '14, sorry -- and compared to LDCs with 25,000 to 100,000 customers, Milton Hydro's growth over this three-year period was 15.2 percent, which is 522 percent higher than this peer-group average of 2.4 percent.

As I said, Milton Hydro is in super-growth mode.  No LDC comparators are experiencing this level of growth.

Milton Hydro continues to compare itself to the original peer group that the OEB used:  Mid-sized, GTA, medium-high, to high undergrounding, even though there is a question whether Milton Hydro should have been part of this group while serving 85 percent of -- while serving a territory that includes 85 percent rural.  Regardless, Milton Hydro continues to compare favourably with this group based on the latest OEB statistical yearbook of 2014.

Using that yearbook and refining our group to be LDCs in the 25,000 to 100,000 customer group, Milton Hydro's 2014 OM&A cost per customer of 243.34 was 9 percent below this peer group of LDCs of similar size whose OM&A cost per customer averaged 267.40 in 2014.

Using the 2014 statistical yearbook and looking at OM&A per customer in the province and comparing it to all LDCs, Milton Hydro's cost per customer of 243.34 ranks as seventeenth-lowest in the province, compared to the industry weighted average of 337.80 per customer, while still managing the dramatic increase in customers and servicing a significant rural area.

We have added Milton Hydro's 2016 projected OM&A per customer to this chart.  Milton Hydro is projecting its cost per customer in 2016 to increase to 270.21, still 20 percent below the 2014 industry average.

We looked back at our OM&A per customer using average annual customers in terms of historical trending.  We present our OM&A costs per customer over the last ten years, 2006 to 2016.  For comparative purposes we adjusted years 2013 to 2016 to CGAAP.

During this ten-year period there has been almost an 80 percent increase in customers, from just over 20,000 to 36,672, while at the same time admin costs per customer have grown by 19 percent, OM&A costs per customer have increased by 18.6 percent, and using the OEB inflation figures, inflation during this period was approximately 17.7 percent.

What this says is Milton Hydro's 19.2 percent increase in total OM&A per customer from 198.30 to 236.33 has increased fairly consistent with inflation while keeping pace with customer growth, new legislative requirements as we transition to an employee size that exceeds 50 employees, adding new technological advancements, such as GIS, WiMAX work management system, and continuing to service a significant rural area that has been impacted in more recent years by severe weather conditions.

This chart also demonstrates that our historical OM&A per customer is relatively consistent but lumpy as we bring on new staff to deal with the growth.  2015 is an exception, because we were still at Lawson Road while renovating and maintaining the new building.

The increase in 2016 largely reflects the addition of five additional staff required as we transition to a larger LDC and continue to build corporate infrastructure, such as filling new positions, including SCADA tech, HR specialists, and communication specialists.

We have reproduced table 4.2 to reconcile from 2011 OEB-approved OM&A of 6.3 million to 2016 test adjusted of 10.12 million, an increase of $3.8 million.

The most significant incremental change relates to the impact of modified IFRS.  Milton Hydro adopted the accounting changes for depreciation in capitalization policies in January 1st, 2013 in accordance with the OEB's letter dated July 17th, 2012.

The total impact on OM&A from 2013 to 2016 related to modified IFRS is 1.46 million out of the 3.6.  Was it 6?

The next most significant cost driver, just over 1-point million (sic), relates to incremental wages, salaries, progression, and benefits.  From 2011 to 2016 12 new positions were added.  By the end of 2015 seven of those positions had been hired, with five new positions slated for 2016.

One of Milton Hydro's challenges has been its proximity to the GTA, having an impact on salary, wage adjustments, recruiting, and retaining staff.

Table 4-15, duplicated from the application, outlines the 12 additional staff from 2011 OEB-approved to 2016 test.  As you will recall, Milton Hydro has been in super-growth mode during this time, seeing a 15.2 percent increase in customers from 2011 to 2014.

In order to meet demands of these additional customers and continue to grow our corporate infrastructure as we transition to a larger LDC, it is critical that we continue to add staff where appropriate.

Milton Hydro has always taken the approach to contract out as much as we can, and only hire when it becomes economically prudent.  Our history of being one of the LDCs with the highest number of customers per employee supports this statement.  At the end of 2015, Milton Hydro has 55 staff, including three vacancies.  Two of these positions have now been filled, with one outstanding lineman vacancy in the process of being filled.  There are five positions scheduled to be hired in 2016.

Two positions, the chart shows the positions that -- additional positions in 2015 and 2016.  Two positions were hired for in 2015; an AMI operator as a result of our contract expiring with Trilliant for AMI services, and the decision to bring that function in-house to allow us to better use that AMI operator for other functions, and a network administrator.  Both positions were new positions to the organization.

In 2016, five positions have been added; a communication specialist, again it’s a new position originally planned for 2015.  It has been delayed until 2016.  Customer feedback during the aftermath of the ice storm and during our customer engagement sessions last year highlighted a need to do a much better job communicating with our customers.

CSR; it was originally planned for 2015. The hiring was delayed until 2016 due to the lower growth in 2014 and 2015, due to a dispute that has since been resolved between the development community and the Halton Region over development charges.  This position will be hired in 2016 as growth ramps up.

A SCADA technician; this is a new position to the organization as we introduce WiMAX.  An HR position, a new position to the organization.  To date, the HR function has been part of each management team's responsibility, so hiring, firing, training, discipline has historically been done by management staff.  That may be okay when you can have a small staff level, but as we grow to 60-plus employees, it becomes necessary to have this specialized skill set in-house.

And then finally, a power line technician; it’s an additional resource required as we continue to grow.

So of those seven positions in 2015 and 2016, five of those are new positions which we are hiring as we build our corporate infrastructure.

Again, going back to the latest OEB statistical yearbook for 2014, from a customer per employee standpoint, Milton Hydro served 675 customers per employee as compared to the industry average of 499 customers per employee.

In 2016, Milton Hydro is projecting to serve 606 customers per employee, which is still significantly over the industry average.

As we have shown in our 10-year OM&A analysis, our OM&A per customer can be a bit lumpy as we add in new staff.  But we have constantly and consistently maintained OM&A per customer below average.

Comparing Milton Hydro to its peer group in terms of LDCs with 25 to 100,000 customers, in 2014 Milton Hydro, while serving 675 customers per employee, is well above --27 percent, in fact -- the average of this peer group of 534 customers per employee.

Using the Halton Region's best planning estimates for the Town of Milton's population, Milton Hydro has projected its staff level starting in 2016 with 61 employees and using the same number of customers per employee it serves today, approximately 675.

The orange line highlights that in 2016, Milton Hydro, having 61 employees, would by 2031 by have a staff level of 113 employees.  The green line indicates Milton Hydro’s projected employee level based on the number of customers per employee served by a comparator group.  We looked at LDCs in the range of 50,000 to 100,000 customers, and using their average of 538 customers per employee.  This would -- by 2031, Milton Hydro would have 141 employees.

It demonstrates that Milton Hydro is continuing to look at itself as keeping itself very lean, and only hiring on an as-needed basis.  Other incremental cost drivers from table 4.2 total $1.36 million from 2011 to 2016.  Some of the more significant changes from 2011 are highlighted below.  Tree trimming of $360,000; after the 2013 ice storm and customer feedback and to reduce the number of outages, Milton Hydro revisited its vegetation management program.

The load dispatching control room of 170,000; in lieu of establishing its own control room, Milton Hydro contracted with Guelph Hydro in 2014 for provision of control room services.

Safety and training; Milton Hydro introduced a springboard health and safety management system, and jointly contracted with two other LDCs with Safety 7 to manage and operate the health and safety system and safety program.

New consulting services; 105,000 includes disaster recovery, security audit, website redesign, labour consultant, Util-Assist, earth savage data and ADS distribution system plan.  We also had new software support and maintenance as a result of introducing new systems.  The most significant of that is the support on servu.com, and that is as a result of bringing the AMI services in-house.  That was Trilliant’s quote for the software maintenance on that.

As Milton Hydro continues to grow, a number of systems were introduced.  GIS outage management system; we introduced a work management system, and so the support and maintenance on those new systems.  And other increases relate to ODS, and an additional transaction fee that was paid to Savage.

Finally, regulatory compliance; there was $100,000 increase from 2011 to 2016.

Concluding comments:  Considering Milton Hydro has been consistently below average on OM&A per customer, continues to be above average in customers per employee, has no LDC comparators in terms of the level of growth it has experienced and will continue to experience into the foreseeable future.

It continues to be in super growth mode.  It services a large service territory, which is comprised 85 percent rural, and typically drives up the cost of OM&A per customer.

Our application has demonstrated Milton Hydro's request for 10.1 million for 2016 is necessary, prudent, and justifiable in order to meet the needs of all stakeholders, but most importantly our customers.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Corkum, and thank you, panel.  The panel is now ready for cross-examination.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  According to our plan, we will start with Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you Mr. Chair.  I have a compendium I've prepared.  I wonder if I could get that marked as an exhibit.

MR. RICHLER:  We can mark that as K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF ENERGY PROBE FOR MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION PANEL 1

MR. AIKEN:  I'm also going to be referring to the information filed on March 24 by Milton Hydro, and I believe there were a number of documents they filed on that date.  The one I am going to be referring to the most is the information request for the oral hearing from Energy Probe.

I don't know if that needs to have an exhibit number.

MR. RICHLER:  Have you got hard copies of that, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  No, I do not.  It was filed by Milton Hydro, as I said, on March 24.

MR. RICHLER:  We will give it an exhibit number, K1.5, and we'll get copies at the break.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  DOCUMENT CONTAINING INFORMATION FROM MILTON HYDRO, FILED MARCH 24
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, panel.  I'm going to be bouncing back and forth between my compendium and the information request for oral hearing, the Energy Probe information you filed on March 24th, most of the morning.

So am I correct that your current forecast for OM&A costs in the 2016 test year is $10,122,000, and that's an increase of about $220,000 from your original filing?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And this increase, which is highlighted in response to Energy Probe clarification question number 6, which is on page 1 of my compendium, that's a sum of $135,000 for the Trilliant software maintenance contract and a little over $84,000 in miscellaneous costs; is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Could I ask you to turn to the revised Appendix 2-JB that was filed on March 24th?  This is on page 3 of 8.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that there are three changes in this schedule from your original filing, the first change being the update to the 2016 test year forecast -- the second change was an update, I believe through the interrogatory process, to the 2015 bridge year forecast -- and the third and final change is the addition of the 2015 unaudited figures in the last column?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I have a number of clarification questions on this cost driver table.

First, can you explain the ice storm 2013 line to me?

MR. RICHLER:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  If I could just interject for a second.  I just wonder if the witness panel has the ability to bring these documents up on the screen as they're referred to, especially since we don't have hard copies of the March 24th information request.  It might make it a little easier for everyone to follow along.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder, Mr. Chair -- I'm sorry to interrupt -- I wonder if it's worth taking a five-minute break and bringing the copies in rather than -- because I suspect that Mr. Aiken is going to refer to this a number of times, and a lot of this is highly technical.  I'm flapping around with stuff right now, so I --


MR. AIKEN:  I will be referring to it numerous times, as well as the clarification questions for the School Energy Coalition that were filed on the same date.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Maybe it is a good idea to take a ten-minute break and get copies, hard copies, of the material.  Okay.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  We'll resume at 10:30.
--- Recess taken at 10:16 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:33 a.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Proceed.

MR. AIKEN:  I have a number of questions on the cost driver table, which is on page 3 of 8 in Exhibit K1.5.  And the first one was if you could explain the ice storm 2013 line to me.  This is shows a $500,000 increase in 2013, a million dollar reduction in 2014, and a $500,000 increase in 2015.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Certainly.  This was also addressed in Energy Probe's interrogatory number 24.  What this is is in 2013, Milton Hydro experienced an ice storm and filed a Z-factor application with the Energy Board for about $936,000.  In doing our year end for 2013, our auditors recommended we take a provision in the event that all or part of this Z-factor application was not recovered.  So the $500,000 in 2013 addresses the change in '12 over '13 for the $500,000 provision.

The ice storm application was approved by the Board in October of 2014.  So for 2014 year end, that provision was reversed and set up as a receivable for the ice storm.  So the change from '13 to '14 is 500, less the 500 provision reversed, which was a million dollar adjustment.  And then going into the following year, it's exactly the reverse, where the 500,000 that we reversed out of the 2014 statements is the change or the driver reducing the 2014 in 2015.

MR. AIKEN:  So what I take from that is this was an accounting provision, and there was no actual OM&A cost associated with this because those costs were put in a deferral or variance account; is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's exactly correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then if you flip over a couple pages to appendix 2-JC, am I correct that your 2013 actuals were $500,000 lower than shown here, and your 2014 actuals were $500,000 higher than shown?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then if you go back to 2-JB, the cost driver table -- and this really gets to the point I wanted to make -- in each of the 2015 bridge year and the 2015 unaudited column, you've got a driver of an increase of 500,000 in both of those years.  And based on what you've just said, my understanding is if you added the $500,000 to the 2014 costs, that you would no longer need those cost drivers for either of those 2015 columns, is that correct, because your starting point is going to be higher?

MR. MCKENZIE:  My understanding of this table is the 2015 is still comparing to the 2014 actuals.  So the 500,000 would still be recovered as a driver.

But in addition to that, in Energy Probe 24, Milton Hydro did provide a table removing the riders -- or removing the provision, rather, and gave out the 2014 and 2013 actual total OM&As.

MR. AIKEN:  And that was based on 2014 actuals being $500,000 higher than the 8.5 million shown in 2-JB?  Is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct. 2014 went to 9 million.

MR. AIKEN:  Near the bottom of the page, and I'm still on appendix 2-JB, you have the impact of overhead capitalization policy change on OM&A.  And I think you mentioned this morning this is the change from CGAAP to MIFRS took place in 2013.

Am I correct -- and you'll see the numbers there, a million 273 in 2013, then there are small negative numbers in the following two years, and a 234,000 increase in the test year.  Am I correct that these numbers are additive?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now given the reduction in 2014 and 15 of 11,000 and 40,000, what's driving the $234,000 increase shown in the test year?  In other words, why is there this big jump related to the accounting change that took place back in 2013?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Are you asking what caused the impact?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, what's driving that?  I mean, I'm looking at this and I'm saying okay, the 2013 actual is a $2.7 million difference, the next year is 1.26 million, then it drops to 1.22 million, cumulative  difference.  Then all of a sudden, it jumps up to 1.54 million.

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's cumulative, and that number comes from the 1.455 less the adjustments that we had made in 15.  So that our closing balance for the change is due to modified IFRS is 1,455,000.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that.  But I'm asking why is that’s $230,000 higher than it has been in the three previous years.


MR. MCKENZIE:  And that I don't have an answer for right now.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to explain that increase?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we'll find it.

MR. RICHLER:  We'll record that as Undertaking No. J1.1, to provide an explanation for this $234,375 figure in appendix 2-JB.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION FOR THE $234,375 FIGURE IN APPENDIX 2-JB

MR. AIKEN:  Still on appendix 2-JB and actually further down the table, the second last line that’s labelled "other", in the 2015 bridge year you're forecasting increase of $270,000 as part of the update.  And based on your unaudited actuals for 2015, that increase is now about 105,000.

What are the major components in this increase shown in the other line?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I couldn't tell you exactly with makes the difference up.  2015 was a forecast and the 2000 -- the last column you referred to is the actual unaudited amounts our auditors have come up with.  But what makes up the 100,000 difference --

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, your auditors came up with --

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, no.  It's unaudited -- it's our number, but it’s unaudited.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Well, my question is really this.  If you look at the 2016 column, you’ve got a reduction of 101,000, and this is following the 105,000 increase in your unaudited actuals for 2015.

Given that these almost the exactly offset one another, were these -- that $105,000 increase, were those related to one-time costs in 2015 that are now being offset by the reduction in 2016?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I couldn't tell you at this time.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to determine if those were a one-time cost?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Certainly.

MR. RICHLER:  We will call that Undertaking No. J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE $105,000 INCREASE WAS A ONE-TIME COST

MR. AIKEN:  In the unaudited 2015 column there is a figure of $177,868 increase for consulting financial system upgrade.  Now, in the response to 4 Energy Probe 26, which is on page 4 of the compendium, you indicated that the $150,000 forecast you had in that was a one-time cost.

Now, is this also the case for the unaudited figure of the 177,000?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And on Appendix 2-JB in the same line there is a $28,000 figure shown for -- under 2014 actuals.  Was that also part of the one-time cost?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's one-time.  It was just staff time.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you can turn to Appendix 2-JC on page 5 of K1.5, the load dispatching costs are about $74,000.  And I'm trying to find where that is.  Okay.  It's in the first part of the table.  Yes, 73,744 was the actual 2015 unaudited figure for load dispatching.  And in the bridge year you had a forecast of 156,000.

So if you turn up in my compendium to page 11, this is the response to 4 Staff 59.  In that, for 2015 proposed, in that table, you see a total of 73,759, which is very close to your unaudited actual.  And it breaks the cost down into the three components shown there.

So my questions are on the component -- one of the components, the Guelph hydro line.  Is the $50,000 shown as the cost to Guelph Hydro in 2015 for 16-hour coverage with an on-call person for eight hours of the day, is that -- that's my understanding of what that 50,000 covers.

MR. MCKENZIE:  The 50,000 represents eight hours and on-call.  We're not at the 16 at that -- at this point.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And the eight-hour coverage is for five days a week?  Is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, and on call for the weekends --

MR. AIKEN:  And the on-calls for five days.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And the weekends.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then in 2016 you're moving to 24-hour control-room operations; is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Have you moved to this 24/7 service yet?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, not at this time.  Not yet.  We're still in works with Guelph.  Guelph is in now.  Once that is taken care of, then we will go to 24/7.

MR. AIKEN:  When do you expect that would occur?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Be either the second or the third quarter.  Guelph has to hire an additional person.

MR. AIKEN:  In Exhibit 4, page 26, which is on page 16 of my compendium, you indicate that the 2015 service cost is $50,000, and for 2016 the price to be paid to Guelph is 100,000.  And then in the response -- I'm not sure which one it was, but one of the Energy Probe questions, you indicated that the 100,000 was an incorrect figure.  It should be 150,000; is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  For the 24/7 coverage, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Because you're still in negotiations with Guelph, do you have a contract or a preliminary contract that supports the $150,000 that Guelph is going to be charging you?

MR. MCKENZIE:  At this point we have the 100,000 coverage for the 16 hours, and the additional 50,000 for 24/7 is a verbal contract at this point.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry.  I thought you said before you had the $50,000 coverage for eight hours, not 100,000 for 16 hours.


MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, then we have a contract for 16 hours with Guelph.  We didn't get there in 2015 entirely, and -- but we do have a verbal contract for an additional 50 to go to 24/7 coverage in 16.

MR. AIKEN:  So you currently have 16-hour coverage and you're paying 100,000 on an annual basis to Guelph?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I want to return to Energy Probe clarification question number 6, which is on page 1 of the compendium.  What I don't see there are any reductions in the revised 2016 budget as a result of the update.  And in table 4-51 in your original evidence, you forecast property taxes for the Chisholm Drive office building of about $207,000, but the response to 4 Energy Probe 31, which is on page 6 of the compendium, you indicated that as a result of the property being reclassified from industrial to commercial the property taxes had been reduced by more than $87,000.

My question is, why is this reduction not being reflected in your updated OM&A costs?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It is reflected in total in the 6,461 and change.  That consists of a number of adjustments that totalled up the 6,461, but the taxes are included in the reduction.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that that then applies about a $93,000 increase probably for water, hydro, and waste water?

MR. MCKENZIE:  And other admin costs, such as postage, has increased as well, so, yes, those are adjustments.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, Appendix 2-JC shows, among other things, rent associated with the loss of building and building expenses as separate line items.  And they're down under the administration heading in 2-JC.

My first question is, how do the building -- the 2016 building expenses that are shown as $412,615, relate to the $467,634 that is shown in the response to SEC request number 2 that was filed on March 24th?  And it's also shown in the response to 4 Staff 61, which is on page 12 and 13 of my compendium.  What's the difference?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, could you repeat that one more time?

MR. AIKEN:  Sure.  Appendix 2-JC for the test year shows building expenses of 412,615.  In the response to the information request from Schools that was filed on March 24th it shows a figure of $467,634, which is the same figure shown in the response to 4 Staff 61, and that table is on page 13 of my compendium.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And your question, what is the difference?

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  In other words, why aren't the two numbers the same?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The amount we filed in response to Schools, the 467,634, is our forecast for ’16, and that's the number that would reflect.  But I couldn't tell you why there is a difference at this point.

MR. AIKEN:  So is your request then not for 10.122 million but an extra 585,000 or something like that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, it still is 10.122, but I’m not sure where the approximately 50,000 is.  It hasn't changed our total.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  My understanding is you bought the Chisholm Drive building in 2014.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And what did you use the building for between the time you bought it and when you moved into it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It was being renovated for office space, the first and second floor, and some warehouse costs.

MR. AIKEN:  And when did you move into it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  In December of '15.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now when I look at the response to 4 Staff 61, and this is on page 13 of the compendium, the biggest component of the 467,000 in costs are for things like hydro, water, and sewer, which you put together as one line item of $200,000.

In 2015, does the unaudited figure of $395,900 include costs for both the Lawson building and the Chisholm Drive building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  You're referring to the Schools table?

MR. AIKEN:  No, I'm referring to appendix 2-JC.  Your 2015 unaudited actual for building expenses is 395,909.

My question is does that include costs for 11 months for the Lawson building plus 12 months for the Chisholm Drive building.


MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it does.

MR. AIKEN:  And then moving forward into the test year, the 467,000, that's only for the Chisholm Drive building?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So in the response to Schools number 2 that was filed on March 24th, the increase in the 2016 costs compared to 2015 appears to be driven by the hydro, water, and sewer line or sewer costs.  And my question is what is driving that increase.


MR. MCKENZIE:  Those are estimated costs for the Chisholm building.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you break that $200,000 out into each of hydro, heat -- assuming you're using something other than hydro for heating -- water and sewer?  And in addition, you've been in that building for four months now.  Can you provide the actual cost broken down into those three or four categories?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we can.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to file both the costs broken down, and then your year-to-date actuals broken down?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes we will.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be Undertaking No. J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE $200,000 ESTIMATED COSTS BY HEAT, HYDRO, WATER AND SEWER; TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL COST BROKEN DOWN INTO THOSE SAME FOUR CATEGORIES


MR. AIKEN:  Turning to a slightly different topic, if you could turn to the response to 4 Staff 57, which is at pages 9 and 10 of my compendium, and I guess specifically on page 10, the table at the top there.  This relates to the Trilliant software cost increase that was part of your update.

I see the total increase that you talk about in the update of $130,000 for the software maintenance contract -- at least I thought I did -- and then there is a reduction of about $25,000 in direct labour.

So there is a net increase of roughly 105,000.  and my question is:  How does this reconcile with the $135,000 increase that you showed back on my compendium page 1?  Where is that $25,000 reduction built in?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The change in the Trilliant contract was 135,000.  That was their software maintenance cost that we were not aware of at the time of doing the 2016 forecast.

The direct labour cost from '16 test to '16 budget is just a reallocation of costs when we did -- when we compared what we did for our test year, our 2016 final budget that we presented to the Board.  So it's a reallocation of labour.  It doesn't change our totals for 2016.

MR. AIKEN:  Are you telling me that back on page 1 of the compendium, the $25,000 savings is part of the maintenance increase, for example, of 77,000.  You've actually increased your maintenance cost by 102,000, which is offset by this $25,000 reduction associated with the Trilliant software on the billing and collecting line.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, in that 77,000 you're referring to for 2016, there are a number of other adjustment that is were made at the time of updating to our budget, and they included changes in locates, meter maintenance, stores, admin costs and overhead lines.

So the total, the net total is 77,000.  So any labour costs are included in there.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you have a breakout of that 77,000 that you can provide?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I do.  I can give it to you right now, if you’d like.  Underground locates increased by 35,000. Meter maintenance went down by 76,700.  Stores expense increase by 24,500.  Control room for Milton Hydro costs went up by 18,600.  Admin costs and engineering was 61,600.  Overhead lines, a 14,000 increase, and then there was some miscellaneous items for a couple thousand dollars each that net to the total of $77,600.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  I want to move on to management fee pages, Milton Hydro Holdings, and your evidence on this is on page 17 of the compendium, which is page 46 of Exhibit 4 in your original evidence.

And in that evidence, you indicate that 98 percent of the Holdings’ board of directors costs are allocated to the distributor, and you list the costs as directors fees, meeting expenses, management services, administration, legal, audit and insurance expenses.

And in the response to 4 Energy Probe 39, which is on page 5 of the compendium, I had asked you to break that down, that management fee, into those individual items.  And your response basically was that you couldn't because those are holdings costs, and I assume you didn't know the component of the management fee that you're paying.

Am I correct that the management services, the legal, the audit, et cetera, are services purchased by the board of holdings for its business and that there are no services provided by holdings to the distributor?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No.  If I could refer you to the table that you have on page 5 of your compendium, the table that reflects the costs of the board of directors for Milton Hydro's board only, the 98 percent of holdings costs relate to the costs of holdings, corporate governance, and audit committee, and Milton Hydro shares 98 percent of those costs.

So the table, the 157,225, which actually has been reduced in the 2016 budget by $38,000, is directly related to the board of directors for Milton Hydro Distribution.

MR. AIKEN:  And I believe what you're paying to the management fee, to the holdings company, is about $75,000.

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, that's -- and that was in the original filing.  That has been reduced to about 98 percent of approximately 55 -- 50 to 55,000.  I don't have the exact number, but the budget for Milton Hydro Distribution is in the $40,000 range for holdings, corporate governance, and audit committee share of the costs.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you point me where in the evidence or in the IR responses that change was noted?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, because that table 4 inter-company from holdings to distribution was not updated as any part of the interrogatories.  So I know the table you're referring to of 71,000, and that is not the correct number.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you provide what the correct number is now?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's 98 percent of $51,900.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What is that $51,900 for?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's for Milton Hydro's corporate governance over its distribution and affiliates, of which Milton Hydro shares 98 percent, and it's also Milton Hydro's distribution share of the audit committee, which is also the governing body under holdings.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is basically this:  Why are ratepayers paying for two board of directors costs?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The corporate governance and the audit -- are subcommittees of Milton Hydro holdings.  So we're not paying for the two Board costs.  They are the governing bodies and the subcommittees of holdings, of which -- and they are only the fees for the meetings that these two committees have.  We're not paying directly for the Board costs, just for the meeting costs.

MR. AIKEN:  So the 51,900, that's not the total cost of the holdings company board of directors?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, it's not --


MR. AIKEN:  That's only -- that's the part that's split between you and the other affiliate, 98 percent and 2 percent?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the total board of directors costs, related costs, that ratepayers are paying for is somewhere in excess of $200,000.

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, the 157,000 on your table -- and it has been reduced and updated in our budget by 38,000, and then plus the 98 percent of the holdings' corporate governance share of their meetings.  So it would be --


MR. AIKEN:  Maybe I can simplify it.

MR. MCKENZIE:  -- about 106 -- 158,000 is the total of the two -- Milton Hydro's board of directors and Milton Hydro's share of the corporate governance meetings of the holding company.

MR. AIKEN:  Maybe I can simplify this.  Could you update the response to part C in 4 Energy Probe 29 that shows the total Board of Director related costs, and by that I mean the direct costs of Milton Hydro board of directors and the share of the holdings' board of directors costs, that are included and paid for by ratepayers over this five-, six-year period?  Or maybe you already have them there.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I have it for you.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Milton Hydro's board of directors costs were 118,700.  And the corporate governance cost coming from Milton Hydro holdings is the 41,000.

MR. AIKEN:  No, but I meant also for the historical years.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Oh.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand the 159 -- 160,000 for the test year.  But what about the historical years?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We have, actually, the table here.  It's just a little more difficult to -- I can read each number out to you for each year if you'd like.

MR. AIKEN:  Undertaking is fine with me.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's call that Undertaking No. J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBERS FOR THE HISTORICAL YEARS.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to turn briefly to FTEs.  So if you can turn up Appendix 2K, and this is part of the March 24th filing.  Page 6.

My first question is just a clarification question on the numbers.  And under the 2015 unaudited actuals numbers, it says you have 23 management FTEs and 33 non-management, for a total of 55.  My question is, which of those three figures is wrong?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Should be 56.

MR. AIKEN:  Maybe just to clarify, the reason why it may be important is that if you look back at table 4-12, it also shows in the unaudited actuals column 55 FTEs there.  So I'm wondering whether the 55 is right, or whether that should be 56 where it comes into the various calculations.

MR. MCKENZIE:  The 55 is correct for the end of 2015.  We did not hire two linemen and one handy person for stores.  We anticipated 58 employees by the end of '15, and we didn't hire three.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the 55 is fine?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The 55 is the correct number for the end of the year 2015.

MR. AIKEN:  And while we're on Appendix 2-K, I have a more -- a broader question about the unaudited actuals column.  Would I be correct that the figures in this table and in Appendix 2-JC for the unaudited actuals for 2015 are not likely to change significantly in total, but the numbers may move around in the accounts, and that could include labour costs that are expensed versus capitalized?  In other words, when the auditors come in and they say, yeah, these numbers are all right, but you may not have them in the right place?

MR. MCKENZIE:  They are pretty much in the right place.  We’ve had our auditors in.  We just don't have a final audited report.  So those numbers, as they stand, will be pretty accurate.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I'm moving on to regulatory costs.  Could you turn to the response to 4 Staff 69, which is at page 14 of the compendium?  I'm looking at the table you provided in the response, and I've got a couple questions on the figures in it.

I’m on page 14 of the compendium, and I'm looking at the table and as I said -- am I correct that the figures shown in the 2011 cost-of-service column are what you forecast those costs would be, and not what the actual costs were in your last cost-of-service application?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree, subject to check, that the intervenor costs, which you show as $100,000, were in reality something around $40,000?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Subject to check, I can confirm that.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you have the actual costs broken down into the three categories shown, in other words, intervenor costs, legal costs, and consultant costs?

MR. MCKENZIE:  For 2016 test?

MR. AIKEN:  No, for the -- what your actual costs were for the 2011 cost-of-service application.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I don't have them with me at this time.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide those?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We can.

MR. RICHLER:  We'll call that Undertaking No. J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL COSTS FOR THE 2011 COST-OF-SERVICE APPLICATION

MR. AIKEN:  With respect to the $100,000 shown in the 2016 test year for an OEB expert engineering consultant for the DSP plan, how did you arrive at that forecast?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Just a number that we used.  We had no idea what it was going to cost to have our distribution plan reviewed by the OEB experts, and we still don't.

MR. AIKEN:  Have you heard anything from the Board about what the cost would be, or how those costs are going to be recovered?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Our understanding is the costs will be recovered from Milton Hydro.  We have not received any correspondence on what the cost will be, or was for reviewing the distribution system plan.

MR. AIKEN:  If you were to find out those costs were to be quote-unquote socialized, and not recovered directly from Milton Hydro, would you agree that that $100,000 should be removed from your cost-of-service?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I agree.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Do you know something we don't know?

MR. AIKEN:  You never know around this place.  Now, I'm somewhat at a disadvantage here, but your legal costs are shown going from 58,500 to 202,000, and not knowing what your actual costs were for your last rate application, why the -- what's driving the threefold increase from one cost-of-service application to the next?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, it would be increased - what we expected increase in time and rates, but we also put provision in for oral hearing.

MR. AIKEN:  Similarly for the consultant cost, nearly a threefold increase forecast over forecast.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's the same.  We expected to be using a consultant more in this application, based on the updated filing appendix and requirements under the filing guidelines.

MR. AIKEN:  If you can look at appendixes 2-JB and 2-JC that were filed on March 24 -- let’s start with 2-JB, and I'm still talking about regulatory costs, and this is under public policy driver.

The forecast was for a reduction of about $15,000 dollars in the 2015 bridge year.  But your actuals, your unaudited actuals have come in $89,000 higher or -- yes, $89,000 higher than 2014.  So that's a swing of a little bit more than $100,000.

And then similarly in 2-JC, when you look at the regulatory expense line, we see the bridge year forecast went from $99,000 to the unaudited actuals of just under $202,000.  So that's that $102,000 swing.

Is this -- what you're showing under the unaudited actuals for 2015, does that include costs for the current proceeding?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it does.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Isn't that double counting, given that you've also included one-fifth of that cost in 2016 and the following four years?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's our understanding those costs will be recovered over a five-year period.  So we could have deferred them as a prepaid, which would have then taken care of that situation.  But they are in the 2015 unaudited currently.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you provide how much of that $202,000 for regulatory costs is related to this current proceeding?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I can.

MR. RICHLER:  Do I understand that that's -- that will be by way of undertaking?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I don't have the numbers at hand right now.

MR. RICHLER:  That will be J1.6.
UNDERTAKING no. J1.6:   TO ADVISE HOW MUCH OF THAT $202,000 FOR REGULATORY COSTS IS RELATED TO THIS CURRENT PROCEEDING

MR. AIKEN:  Just before we leave regulatory costs, can you explain why in the response to 4 Staff 69, which is on page 14 of the compendium, you've not included any customer engagement costs in the 2016 test year column?

My understanding from your original evidence is that you have about $79,000 that you're amortizing over two years for that cost.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we had two customer surveys that we had amortized over two years as opposed to --

MR. AIKEN:  And the two-year amortization is because you plan on doing those surveys every two years?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Mr. Chair, I don’t know when you want to take a break, given we had a short break earlier this morning.

DR. ELSAYED:  What's your time estimate for the rest of your cross?

MR. AIKEN:  Probably 15, maybe 20 minutes at most.

DR. ELSAYED:  And Mr. Shepherd, your estimate was an hour?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Janigan has gracefully agreed to go ahead of me.

MR. JANIGAN:  I would say 30 minutes to 45 minutes, Mr. Chair, I response.

DR. ELSAYED:  Why don't we take a 10-minute break, or a 15-minute break let's say, and resume at twenty to 12.
--- Recess taken at 11:23 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:42 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  I just wanted to clarify, I think, as pointed out by Mr. Sidlofsky at the beginning, that the variance-account issue, because it's being dealt with on a generic basis, will not be part this proceeding, as was pointed out, so just confirming that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, that's right, sir, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So back to Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, and I think I'm going to be considerably shorter than my 15-minute estimate before the break.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  You talked earlier this morning about your significant growth rate in customer attachments.  Am I correct that your growth in customers has slowed significantly in 2015 and '16 compared to the previous years?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It slowed considerably in 2015.  Where we were originally budgeting 1,500 new services, we came in at 730 or -35 customers.  2016, we have put into our forecast 1,500 new residential customers.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, you put in services but not necessarily customers.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yeah, 1,500 services.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you turn to table 4-12 in the March 24th filing -- this is page 4 of Exhibit K1.5 -- your number of customers in 2016 is going up by about 1,170, something in that neighbourhood; is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  That's an average from 2015 to 2016.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  And would you take it subject to check that that's about a 3.3 percent increase in the number of customers year-over-year, whereas back in 2013 your number of customers grew by 5.7 percent?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Subject to check.  I don't have the percents with me.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  In the response to 1 Staff7 -- and this is on page 8 of the compendium -- you provided a table that showed based on the PEG model that you expect to be in cohort number 3 for 2016.  Have I got that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And last week you filed the PEG model that produced these results.  And after some exploration of that model I finally found the table, so I can confirm that it matches.

MR. MCKENZIE:  You're a better man than I am.

MR. AIKEN:  And am I correct that in that model your customer growth on a ten-year -- over a ten-year basis is also slowing, based on numbers in that model?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It has slowed in '14 and '15, so overall it would have slowed, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And again, subject to check, in 2013, on a decade-over-decade basis. I guess you could call it, your customers are up about 110 percent. so that's 2013 versus 2003, whereas in 2016 that figure versus 2006, so ten years prior, is now just under 80 percent growth in that ten years, so would you take those subject to check?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, I believe in Ms. Corkum's -- she said 80 percent growth between 2006 and '16.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, so that's close to what the PEG model is also saying?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, regardless of whether you're slowing or not, that is still, as you say, significant customer growth.  And with that kind of customer growth would you agree that Milton Hydro has benefited from significant growth in economies of scale, and this has resulted in your OM&A per customer being relatively low compared to other distributors that have not experienced the same level of growth as you have?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, customer growth, yes, would impact that rate, that percent, that ratio.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, which ratio are you referring to?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The OM&A per customer.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Has Milton Hydro filed any evidence in this proceeding that shows the marginal impact on OM&A of a 1 percent change in the customer growth rate?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, we have not.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you agree that the PEG model can be used to estimate the impact on the revenue requirement of different rates of customer growth, since it is one of the explanatory variables used in the model?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It may.  I am personally not that familiar with operating the PEG report.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you agree that in the PEG model that you filed you've used the parameters that are specific to Milton Hydro?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we have.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Finally, if you can turn to table 4-14 that was filed on March the 24th.  This is page 6 of 8.  Would you take it again subject to check that the total average compensation per FTE forecast for 2016 is about 22-and-a-half percent higher than in the 2011 Board-approved column?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, did you say 22 percent?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And that is the grand total you're referring to on that page?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I believe it is.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Subject to check.  We would have to work it out, of course.

MR. AIKEN:  And would you also agree subject to check that that works out to be 4.2 percent on a compound annual basis over that period?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Would have to check that as well, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And would you agree that this increase is more than double the average increase over this period of the average weekly earnings that the Board uses for calculating the price cap it uses?  Which is around 2 percent, on average?  Again subject to check?

MR. MCKENZIE:  You're saying how much, Mr. Aiken?  It's different?

MR. AIKEN:  It's more than double the 2 percent average that the average weekly earnings have increased in Ontario?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Where does the 2 percent come from, sorry?

MR. AIKEN:  That is the figure that the Board uses in calculating its price cap.  It uses the GDP IPI and then also the average weekly earnings, including overtime for Ontario workers?

MR. MCKENZIE:  So between '11 and '16 are the years you're looking for?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.  We would have to check that as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

Mr. Janigan?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Jangan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have a compendium that I shall distribute.

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Chair, while that compendium is being distributed, perhaps we could mark it as Exhibit K1.6.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF VECC FOR MILTON HYDRO DISTRIBUTION PANEL 1.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  Just before my friend Mr. Janigan begins, I believe Mr. McKenzie wants to correct one of his responses to Mr. Aiken.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure, go ahead, please.

MR. MCKENZIE:  In response, Mr. Aiken, to your question on the $100,000 that we put in for regulatory costs for the OEB review of the distribution system plan.  The 100,000 would come out, that's correct, if it was socialized.  But then the Energy Board cost would go up proportionate to whatever Milton Hydro's share is of the total cost for socializing the costs of the Board specialist reviewing distribution system plans.

So it wouldn't be a $100,000 reduction.

MR. AIKEN:  You would agree that the socialized cost would be significantly less than $100,000?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It may or may not, but yes, probably, if the Board specialist were reviewing all the applications, including the smaller utilities as well.  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I can have that compendium marked as an exhibit?

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Janigan, while you were walking around the room, we just marked it as Exhibit K1.6.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks very much.  The first thing I would like to do is to take a look at the PowerPoint that was distributed this morning with respect to OM&A.

The first thing I want to do is look at the Milton Hydro service territory, and I note that on slide number 4, there is a calculation that Milton serves 94.6 customers per square kilometre of its service area.  Do you see that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The presentation does show 94.6 customers per square kilometre.

MR. JANIGAN:  I note, when I look at the page 3 which gives the service territory, that what you have is a fairly concentrated urban area and a fairly substantial rural area.  And you have the rural area takes up 85 percent of your service territory, whereas the urban area is 15 percent of your service territory.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand it, in your urban area, you have 18,418 customers, and in your rural area are 2000 customers?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  That's approximate.

MR. JANIGAN:  In your urban area, you have about 328 customers per square kilometre --

MR. MCKENZIE:  Excuse me just one second?

MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Mr. Janigan, could you repeat the number of customers you had per urban and per rural?

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I'm taking it from your slide number 4 -- or 5, I should say, and at the bottom of the page, you have 2006 Milton Hydro customers at 20,000 including approximately 2,000 rural customers.  That's the 2006 figure.

The 2016 figure is 36,676 of total customers.  I don't know what the figure is for your rural customers from that figure.

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's still approximately 2,000.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So effectively, almost 95 percent of the customers are now urban?

MR. MCKENZIE:  34,000 of 36,000, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And they are all in the 15 percent urban area?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would seem to generate much more substantial numbers in terms of number of customers per kilometre for almost all of your territory, would it not?

MR. MCKENZIE:  If the numbers from slide 6 for 2016 are used, Milton Hydro would service closer to 98.8 of its customers will be --

MR. JANIGAN:  Urban?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, I think I'm clear.  Slide 5 with 94.6 customers per square kilometre of service area is based on 2014 numbers.  Using slide 6, it's 98.8 customers per kilometre using 2016 customer counts.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  What effectively you have here is that you have basically, in terms of your customers, urban -- an urban territory with a large but very sparsely populated rural territory; am I correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.  And if you use just the urban figures which account for about 98 percent, did you say, of the customers?

MR. MCKENZIE:  98.8 customers per square kilometre.  For 2000 --

MR. JANIGAN:  That's both rural and urban.  But if you just looked at the 56 square kilometres that the urban customers occupy and put in the number of 34,000, you're going to get a significant difference between that 98 number and the number per square kilometres that the urban population occupies.  I think it’s something like about 625, or a little more than that.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Would you please repeat the question that you're getting to?

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  You have a service territory which contains an urban core which is about one-sixth of the size of your rural core.  It's about 15 percent versus 85 percent.  And if you take the urban part of that service territory, which is 56 square kilometres, which is -- I take it is the area where customer growth has been occurring, and use the figure of about 34,000 from your 2016 figures, you're going to get a number of customers per kilometre of in excess of about 625 customers per kilometre in that urban zone; am I correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  In the urban zone.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  And you have the other customers, which are about 5 percent of your customer base.  They reside in the rural area, which is 85 percent of your service territory, but only account for 5 percent of your customers; correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  So I guess my point is that the figure of using 94.6 customers per square kilometre at least requires the explanation that you have 95 percent of your customers in an urban core, and in fact in that area there are an average number of per square metres of service area, it's in excess of 600, which puts you towards the other end of the scale.

MR. MCKENZIE:  The difference to what you're saying is this table on page 4 is total service area for all distributors, and it will include urban and it will include rural.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  So the 94.6, based on 2014, is a comparison of total service areas.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Okay.  But the total service area doesn't really give a true impression of your customer base, which is almost 95 percent urban.  Is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The majority are urban; that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's where the growth is occurring, correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's where the growth is occurring, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, when I look at your slide 5 --


MR. MCKENZIE:  If I can just add to that, I'll just have Mr. Pereira...

MR. PEREIRA:  The service area will be growing as the Town of Milton grows.  If you flip from page 5 to page 6 and 7, those areas are expanding, so that they're going to be part of the growth, but in terms of the service area that we are servicing, the comparison that we're comparing ourselves to, they incorporate both urban and rural area, and we're looking -- there is no breakout in that comparison in terms of the density for the urban component for those comparators that we have included in the chart, the 25,000 to 100,000, I believe.

MR. JANIGAN:  I want to revisit this chart here, actually, in number -- first of all, slide 5, and you compare that to -- you've got a situation where you have total jobs, which is -- presumably means that there are employers in that, that have established places of employment in those areas, and that dwelling units, basically where people lived.  And it would appear that all of the growth, if you flip over to page 2016, is right in that urban core, your little box of urban development that's in the middle of your large territory, the dwelling units.

And on the periphery of that you have got on the north and the east, you have had the growth of employment zones.  More employers are established in that area, I take it?

MR. PEREIRA:  That's correct.  The only thing I would add is that we have two other small urban centres that you see in the map on the north.  If you're referring to the 2016 map --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. PEREIRA:  -- you will see the yellow components.

MR. JANIGAN:  I see that.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, so those are two other urban -- somewhat urban areas that we service as well within -- encircled by rural.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that's -- those are about 200 to 400 units?  Is that the right legend there in those two little areas?

MR. PEREIRA:  Based on the Halton's, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And effectively then, in that, if we go back to your first -- or your second slide, which is Milton Hydro service territory, you're pretty much in that -- the box that is coloured there now -- or shaded there now, most of that growth has taken place in that area?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And your employment growth has taken place on the periphery of that, in those residential zones, and I take it that in terms of numbers of customers, each employer is a customer, notwithstanding the size of the customer?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, typically, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I note that you've characterized Milton as being part of -- or being involved in a super-growth mode.  I want to explore that for a moment.

Do you agree that in a monopoly utility there are economies of scale that are obtained by adding customers?

MR. MCKENZIE:  There's economy of scales and added costs, though.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  The added costs initially to add them, but overall the overall cost of the utility are spread among a larger base of customers.

I wonder if you could turn up OEB Schedule 2L, which is part of -- and Appendix 2L to that schedule.  I don't have it in my compendium, unfortunately.  I'm sorry, it's part of your actual exhibit in table 4-12 as well, which is Appendix 2L.  It's the information request from Energy Probe.  I thank Mr. Shepherd for that.

MR. MCKENZIE:  This one here?  Is that the --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And it has OM&A per customer.  I'm going to be looking at that line.

And we have in your last rebasing Board-approve (sic) that your approved number was -- that you received an OM&A amounted to a cost per customer of $206.82.

Now, for your test year, you have projected OM&A cost of 276.03.  And I was wondering, given the fact that you're in super growth mode, why there have been no economies of scale reflected your OM&A cost per customer going from 2011 to 2016.

MR. MCKENZIE:  One of the key areas of our costs has been the additional staff that we've hired over the years on an as-required basis.  So between 2016 and 2011, we have twelve new positions which account for a large part of the OM&A.

MR. JANIGAN:  But the reason that you've hired those positions is because you're in super growth mode.  So on the one hand, you need the number of employees, extra number of employees.  But on the other side of the coin, you’ve got an increased number of customers you have to serve.

So the calculation of OM&A per customer should not be going up in that fashion, one would think.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That OM&A accounts for 1.445 million in modified IFRS as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's still -- that's still amounts to what appears to be no absolutely no savings from the standpoint of economies of scale; as a matter of fact, increases.

MR. MCKENZIE:  If you would refer to the presentation that Ms. Corkum -- she also provided additional costs that have been incurred in 2014, '15, and '16 as part of our growth, being SCADA systems, GIS, outer management systems.  They’re costs that were not incurred in 2011, and they’ve been incurred recently because of that growth.

MR. JANIGAN:  But all those should be generating official efficiency improvements, should they not?

MR. MCKENZIE:  And they do.  That's why the OM&A cost per customer remains below average for the industry.

MR. JANIGAN:  It's going up rather than going down, notwithstanding the fact that you're in super growth mode.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  This is additional cost to the organization.

MR. JANIGAN:  I mean what we have, let’s say two -- you're adding additional costs that are supposedly inducing efficiencies and allowing you to do more with less.  And as well you're adding customers, which allows you to spread the whole network cost over a larger base of customers, and yet we're seeing fairly dramatic increases in OM&A per customer.

MR. MCKENZIE:  What you're seeing with OM&A per customers in different years depends on when we hire the staff that we require.

So if we don't have any staff or any positions required in one year, but the following year we bring in two additional people, that will increase the OM&A costs per customer in the years that they're brought in.  So it's a step effect of when employees get hired, for example those twelve new positions.

MR. JANIGAN:  At some point in time, however, if the employees are matching the customers, you should see a leveling off of that, or at least a diminishment.  It doesn't matter when you hire them.  Eventually, the number associated with OM&A per customer should be going down.

MR. MCKENZIE:  As a growing utility, we're not at that stage where we're into a leveling off period.  So they will change.

MR. JANIGAN:  If I was a customer, let’s say from the constituency I represent in your urban core in 2011, what have I received from your company?  What benefits have I received by your expansion, if your OM&A have gone up and my rates have gone up?

MR. MCKENZIE:  What have you received as an advantage?

MR. JANIGAN:  As a benefit.  What's in it for -- what's the value proposition, as some reports to the Board might say, in relation to the customer versus the utility?

MR. MCKENZIE:  For the customer, it's reliability.  It remains -- we have good reliability.  We keep our OM&A costs below average for the industry, and the industry as a whole increases year over year as well, so it’s not just Milton Hydro.  But the customers receive the benefit of reliability, customer service, connections.

MR. JANIGAN:  Has your reliability gone up since 2011?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It has improved as of last year, and it gets better, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  What about the trend?  The trend line appears to me, as I recall, to be one which is not necessarily favourable to that analysis.  Would you agree with me?

MR. MCKENZIE:  If you're referring to the trend line, it may include the 2013 ice storm.

MR. JANIGAN:  Even excluding those, you have two figures, I think, that you've used in table 1.1-1 of your main evidence.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'll have to look at that.  Just a second, please.


MR. JANIGAN:  I apologize to the Panel --


MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, I had to look up Exhibit 1.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- for not having that in my compendium.

MR. PEREIRA:  We're looking at the performance from 2010 to 2014 inclusive and, in terms of trends, we see up and down depending on the given year.

So if you, based on your question -- could you rephrase your question, please?

MR. JANIGAN:  One of the things that I believe was mentioned is that the reliability has improved, or at least has been maintained, by the looks of it.  And looking at 2010 figures and 2014 figures, that's a conclusion that couldn't be sustained by looking at these indices.

MR. PEREIRA:  2013 and 2014 were heavily impacted by the ice storm in 2013 and the efforts after the ice storm, in terms of the cleanup and the work that was involved there.

MR. JANIGAN:   I am looking at the figure to the right, excluding outages caused by loss of supply.

MR. PEREIRA:  All right.  So the numbers, in terms of including loss of supply, the storm is not loss of supply -- if that's what you're saying?

MR. JANIGAN:  The number, let's say in 2010, for SAIDI is .546.  It's 1.223 in 2014.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  In 2010, it's .397 for SAIFI.  In 2014, it's 1.056.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  The trend line seems to be that there has been no -- there has been a deterioration in reliability, even if you don't look at 2013.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, I would suggest that if we look at the individual years --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. PEREIRA:  So in 2013, we talked about the ice storm.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. PEREIRA:  And we’ve had a number of those occurrences over the years.  In 2010, if we compare that to another year where we did have those events -- for example, 2015 -- we had similar numbers as in 2010.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, but in 2011, you had 1.118, which was three times that -- I'm sorry, that's incorrect.  That's about two and a half times that.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, you're right, and we do have outliers there, so the numbers do fluctuate.  The nature of the plants, when you have -- in terms of it the customer counts and distribution of the customers, some of those incidents will impact our reliability in subsequent years, so if you look at the numbers, you know, to your point, in 2010 we had very good numbers, as you indicated.  2011, if you look specifically at safety, as you indicated, it was worse.  It was slightly better in 2012.  It was better in -- again in 2013, and it was worse in 2014.

So if we look at that trend line, I don't know if it's a clear-cut case that it's getting worse specifically with those numbers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, it may not be getting worse, but the customers are going to have to be paying more, however, for the operation and maintenance costs of the company.

I guess my question is, is when do they get the benefits associated with these increases?

MR. PEREIRA:  Well, as Ms. Corkum said in her presentation, we are in fact incurring one-time costs, and she provided a list.  So for example, if I can just reiterate a couple of them, we introduced a new GIS system, we introduced a new SCADA system, the OMS system that Ms. Corkum referred to, our AMI technology was brought in-house, and all of those costs, I would characterize them in two ways.  One is that they're one-time, meaning we're not going to buy another SCADA system in the next five-year period.  It's part of that step process to be able to deliver enhanced outage management information to our customer, manage our plants incrementally better, and similar with the other systems that we've introduced, the work management system.

So there is at a point in the life cycle of the utility where those systems become critical to delivering a better system, better service, to the customers.  I would suggest that we are at that point, and we've -- you can see that we've actually implemented four or five different systems that's -- typically you would see a utility deploy in a given rate period.  So it's an unusual time frame when you see all those deployed in one time, and they will not be deployed again.  We will not be deploying four major systems again over the next five years.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So during the next five years you're anticipating that there are going to be some cost savings that will be accruing to customers?

MR. PEREIRA:  If you look at the, again, at the projections of the numbers that Ms. Corkum provided in terms of the -- for example, the number of -- sorry, the number of employees to customers, we'll see that we are significantly below the average for the peers in our area that she compared to.

So that is one of the benefits.  Now, some of them are intangible.  So for example, we've had a -- we've often referred to the 2013 ice storm as a bit of a tipping point in terms of education.  Customers want -- or communications, rather -- want more and more in terms of information and being kept abreast of what's happening.

That is not, as an example, an investment where, you know, we incur OM&A cost, but we don't see a result other than increased communications, so you won't see a savings on that particular item, as an example, as we increase our communication efforts.

Others, such as our OMS system, again support the communication effort, but they will also support our restoration efforts, particularly when you couple them with some of the communication and technology we're deploying, so we'll see increased reliability in those instances where we have activity happening in the plants and we can respond quicker.

So, yes, there will be increases in efficiencies.  Some of them are difficult to quantify.  Again, I go back to the communications efforts.  Others will help us with the actual operations of the field as we experience events.

MR. JANIGAN:  So you're saying in terms of -- you've got all these costs that you're incurring now, but they will pay off in terms of the future in relation to lowering the OM&A per customer, or at least providing savings for OM&A per customer; is that correct?

MR. PEREIRA:  They will help us to deliver -- I'm not trying to avoid the question, so let me be clear on this.  They will help us to deliver on the deliverables where there is no savings, such as communications, ability to maintain, our ability to restore.  We expect that some of these efforts, such as the work management system, the OMS system, will help us to realize those savings that we've projected in our customer accounts, so we've built the savings into our projections going forward, because we are bringing those technologies in now.

We are hoping to be able to realize more than what's projected, but it's a looking-forward exercise, and I can't quantify exactly what they would be.  But we're putting the tools to help us get better as we move forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the reliability statistics will be back to 2010 after all of this investment is through; is that correct?

MR. PEREIRA:  Well, okay.  So if we have another storm such as 2013 --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. PEREIRA:  -- the investments in the automation will help us deal with those events quicker and communicate better.  But in those instances you would not have the kind of numbers that you experienced in 2010, because we simply didn't have an ice storm in 2010.  It will help us better deal with the conditions that exist at the moment.

So if we had similar conditions at 2010 and we had an outage, and depending on the automation in the particular part of the town, we may be able to remotely do some switching versus sending out crews to manage that activity in person.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you're saying at the end of the period over the next few years your OM&A per customer in relation to the rest of the utilities is likely to be reflective of what it was back in 2011?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That's very hard to say.  The only one comment I do want to make with respect to what you've been commenting on, reliability, is our 2015 reliability numbers -- MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. LASOWSKI:  -- are very much in line with 2010.  So it's not saying that that will be continuous through, but it does say that in a year where you do not have any sort of abnormal events, our reliability actually will improve.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I want to move to another area here.  And I apologize if Mr. Aiken covered this when I was rifling through my notes.

But as I understand it, you have increased OM&A costs from -- by 219,060 from your original filing?  Have I got that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  219,000 for 2016, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I've gone to -- the summary of proposed changes, and you say that was a result of the response to 2 Staff 13 and 4 Energy Probe 27, and I've gone to both of those responses and I can't find the explanation for this late-in-the-day increase, or at least I can't understand it.  Can you explain it to me in a...

MR. MCKENZIE:  Those references came up previously, and they're not correct.  What we did when we updated our capital to actuals at the request of an interrogatory, we also went through and we updated our OM&A for 2016 to its updated budget.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the changes were -- are the changes recorded anywhere that you made?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The changes are recorded in Energy Probe 27, but in total.  So total for maintenance, the billing, collecting being the 135,000 for the Trilliant software -- or agreement, maintenance agreement, and then the $6,461 for admin and general.

MR. JANIGAN:  And these were in response to getting better numbers?  Is that what --

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in your table 2-JC, Mr. Aiken took you to the load dispatching in table 413, Appendix 2-JC, and noting the difference between the unaudited number and the proposed number for 2016.

My question is with respect to this dispatch operation.  Is this a new function for the utility?  It appears to be.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it is.  We've contracted control-room services to Guelph Hydro.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, what costs have been saved by introducing this service?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, in our 2011 cost-of-service application we were looking at hiring two protection and control individuals.  We were looking at hiring -- or purchasing the computer equipment and software equipment that we needed in-house.  So what we have saved is having to build an internal control room and staff it up.

MR. JANIGAN:  If I wanted to track those savings what figures -- where would I look for those numbers?  Would they be reflected there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  From 2015 Board-approved staffing levels to 2015 actuals, you will see it went down.  We did not hire three individuals that we had approved for in our 2011 cost of servers.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that would be reflected in -- where would I find that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  You’ll find that in Energy Probe interrogatory 25, part B, table 415.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Your 2015 unaudited update shows that customer service to be about 141,000 under-spent compared to the forecast; am I correct on that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Are you still referring to 2-JC?

MR. JANIGAN:  No, I'm looking at the update that is contained in my exhibit, tab 1, table 4-13, looking at customer service.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I have it.

MR. JANIGAN:  It looks like it was about 141,000 under-spent compared to the forecast.

MR. MCKENZIE:  So unaudited to the 2015 bridge year?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it would be about $140,000 less.

MR. JANIGAN:  What's the reason for that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  One reason is in 2015, we did not hire the customer service rep we had originally put in our bridge year forecast.  We did not experience the customer growth at the time.  We only bring on customer service staff as we reach a customer level that requires the hiring.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is the wages of that individual, would that be reflected this particular customer service -- these customer service accounts?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Tab 2 of our compendium, which is Exhibit 1.6, we've included a calculation of effectively what the growth of -- and that's on page 8, what the customer growth would be from 2011 to 2016, and come up with a number of 23.88 percent.

And I believe my friend, Mr. Aiken, referred you to the PEG report and page 6, which noted that for each one percent change in number of customers -- right in the middle of the page -- cost was estimated to change by .44 percent.

Now if we calculate that, use that number to look at the increase to be expected by way of your customer growth, that amounts to a factor increase of 10.51 percent; do you see that?


MR. MCKENZIE:  We do.

MR. JANIGAN:  As I understand it from your conversation with Mr. Aiken, you haven't looked at -- or you haven't used this report in terms of coming up with an estimate of the appropriate amount of cost associated with customer growth.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  It's only used to find where we would sit in relation to other utilities.

MR. JANIGAN:  And if that figure were applied to Milton, the adjustment for customer growth presumably would be around $666,000.  Would you accept that, subject to check?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, I'm not sure what the 10.51 represents.  Could you explain what you're increasing by with that?

MR. JANIGAN:  What it amounts to is that instead of using -- you would use the .44 times the customer growth to arrive at a factor increase in utility costs of 10.51 percent.  And if you applied that to Milton and used that adjustment for customer growth as a formula, the increase would be about $666,000 that would be attributable to customer growth.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I don’t understand -- well, I understand the calculation.  I would say Milton Hydro is not your average utility as far as the PEG report goes.  We're completely different in customer growth.  So I wouldn't say the .44 is even relative to Milton Hydro.

MR. JANIGAN:  When you say you're completely different in customer growth, what you're saying is that the rate of growth is faster?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are there any other differences in customer growth?

MR. MCKENZIE:   No, it would just be customer growth, number of customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So you believe that the increase in the rate of growth of customers would separate you from the analysis that’s contained in this PEG report?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  I'm not clear where that 044 is determined in.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I've included in our compendium the PEG -- the reference from the PEG report.  But I think I have your answer in why Milton, you believe, differs.

Now, in your presentation, I believe it's indicated that OM&A is adjusted by 1.45 million due to changes in capitalization policy from the introduction of IFRS accounting practices.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are you saying that OM&A costs would be 1.45 million lower in 2016, if not for this accounting change?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if we turn up in my compendium --


DR. ELSAYED:  Mr. Janigan, can you turn on the mic?  It must have turned off.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Under tab 3 of my compendium that contains Board Staff interrogatory 4 Staff 50 -- in response to 4 Staff 50, you show the total OM&A, before capitalization, in actual terms was $6,396,763 or about $100,000 more than the Board approved; is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in 2016 again before capitalization, it was forecast to be 10,796,894.  Is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Before capitalization?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the actual OM&A increase that is going on, forgetting about how it's accounted for, is around 68 percent, based on the actuals, or about 78 percent, based on the last Board-approved?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Before any OM&A is capitalized; that's correct.  That may be correct.  I haven't checked the percentages.

MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  Subject to check.  And as I understand your evidence, other than the new shared load dispatching centre, which is something new, you were suggesting that this extraordinarily high increase in spending is due to -- primarily to high customer growth that you are experiencing in Milton.

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's related to the systems we put in place that were not in place in 2011, the SCADA, the GIS, the operating outage management systems, bringing metering in-house as opposed to contracting out.  Those are costs that were not in 2011 and are now in '15 and '16.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  But if you drive down that table to after capitalization you'll see 2016 is 9,100,000, as opposed to the 10-million-122, which we reflect in our application, and the one is before GAAP and after GAAP.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Now, in terms of -- oh, just getting back to your response on that, I assume that some of the systems, or all of the systems that you've brought  -- put in place are largely in response to customer growth.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Customer growth and customer responses we received when we did the customer surveys.  They wanted better communications.  They wanted to know what was happening.  We needed to have systems available that we could put up maps.  Customers wanted to know how long they were going to be out of power, so we've implemented systems that will provide this kind of information to customers and allow us to automate our systems and have better control through the control room at Guelph.

MR. JANIGAN:  Did you tell them what kind of rate increase would be involved in doing that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We did, but the rate increase that we put into our customer survey is significantly higher than where we were actually coming out at in this application.  The customer surveys were done before we had put all our numbers together in a final format.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder, if I look at the response at 4 Staff 50 and the evidence that's listed at page 6 of Exhibit 4, if you look at page 12 of my compendium, I can't figure out how you got to 1.45 million that you've spoken about in the presentation.  Can you explain to us?

For example, if you look at table 4-3 on page 12, it looks like you're capitalizing slightly less in 2016 than in 2013, but only about a $60,000 difference.  And if I look at the response in 4 Staff 50, it looks like you didn't capitalize any OM&A in 2011.  Can you explain that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, what was the second table reference?

MR. JANIGAN:  In 4 Staff 50 -- and you look at the table on page 11 -- it looks like you didn't capitalize any OM&A in 2011, yet on table 4-3 it looks like you're capitalizing slightly less in 2016 than in 2013, but only about a $60,000 difference.  I don't understand how you end up with 1.45 million.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  The 2011 is based on the Board-approved plus any changes in 2011 to actuals.  That would already account for -- the 6,396,000 would already take into consideration any OM&A that was capital.

MR. JANIGAN:  Hmm.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Capitalized.  So then going forward we were able to outline what was capitalized in '12 to '16 -- to '16.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  What you have in -- what counts for the small degree of difference between 2016 and 2013?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, I couldn't tell you what the difference is between the two years.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Maybe just my understanding of this is faulty, so...

Getting back to the calculation of what may be appropriate increase in costs for customer growth, I assume when we are to use the .44 percent figure, I assume that it might be less than that because the Board applied a stretch factor in each of 2011 through 2013 and 2014.  Wouldn't you have to use a productivity factor as well when you look at the -- if you look at a formula for amount of increased costs associated with customer growth?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I couldn't answer that.  I don't know what makes it up.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  You don't know what the --

MR. MCKENZIE:  I don't know all the details in the PEG report.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if I could have you look at your -- under tab 4 of my compendium, look at employee costs and full-time employees by department.

As I understand it, Milton wants to be funded for an increase of 12.5 FTEs since its last cost-of-service application.  Am I correct on that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  That appears to be a 25 percent increase in staffing, which means that your increase in staffing exceeds your increase in customers, even on a 1-to-1 basis.  Not even using the figure of .44 in the PEG report.  Am I correct on that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I don't have the percent with me.  What was the percent again?

MR. JANIGAN:  Looks like about a 25 percent increase in staffing.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And why is that, that it's outstripped your customer increase -- customer increase numbers?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, we typically only bring in staff on an as-needed basis.  The line staff for linemen, outside crews, has increased from the Board-approved '11 -- we didn't actually hit that mark in actuals, and we're proposing to that -- we have '14 and '15, and we have --proposing to have an additional five based on 2011 actuals.

So line staff are driven by the customer growth in the lines that we have to service, maintenance operations, and the remainder are very small increases, customer-service staff increase proposed by one, information technology by one individual -- or by two, rather, sorry.

MR. JANIGAN:  And as I understand the rationale for this is that effectively what you're seeing is a lumpy increase in costs to respond to customer growth which, because the expenses have to take place in one year, don't necessarily -- they reflect percentage increases that may eventually be smoothed out.  Isn't that -- is that effectively what you're saying?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, the growth that we have in one year does not -- that hiring may be the following year before that individual is required, whether it's a customer-service rep or a line person.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, but ultimately at some point in time your increase in staffing should be matching your -- at least matching your increase in customers.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Our effort is that we only hire on an as-needed basis, so whether -- the customers may grow and we may be able to look at alternatives, but we only bring staff in when we find that the existing staff need the extra bodies.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And look at table 4-14 and table 14-15.  When you compare those two and look at management positions, you seem to have increased that from 18 to 23, or a 27 percent increase.  Is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, from the Board-approved to 2016 actuals, unaudited.

MR. JANIGAN:  I mean, with respect to customer growth, one can perhaps understand the increase in position that are associated with non-management positions that are actually out there doing the work.  Why is there a necessity for a 27 percent increase in the management position, the managing the work that's being done?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Originally, we had managers that were working managers.  We subsequently brought in a director of operations, who was a working person -- or a working manager at the time.  It was a contract position, so we made it into a regular position.

MR. JANIGAN:  When I look at table 4-16, I don't see executive positions in that table.  Am I not understanding the designations?  That's on page 17 of my compendium.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Table 4-15, that was included in Ms. Corkum's presentation, breaks out the increases.

MR. JANIGAN:  What's the difference between that
and -- 4-16 is the new positions.  I don't see any executive positions there.

MR. MCKENZIE:  In 2013, Board-approved, we had an individual in operations from table 15 that was actually our director of engineering.  That position in 2013 was moved up to the executive level.  In 2014, we hired our director of operations to replace what we had an individual on a contract.

MR. JANIGAN:  If I look at table 4-16, what are you pointing me to there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'm pointing you to the table in the presentation by Ms. Corkum.

MR. JANIGAN:  I know that, but you have -- should I ignore table 4-16 as not correct, or what?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, I would refer to you table 4-15 on page 15 of your compendium.

MR. JANIGAN:  If you had to remake 4-16 with 4-15, what would it show?  Something different?  Because all your adds are on this table.  That's what puzzles me.

MR. MCKENZIE:  From 4-15, you're referring to the top line?

MR. JANIGAN:  No, no.  Look at table 4-16 on page 17 at the top.  You’ve got your Board-approved 49, and then all of your adds, right.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm trying to match them up with the description of what is set out in 4-15.  Who are the executive individuals that are on this list?

MR. MCKENZIE:  In 4-15, one of the engineering operations positions was moved up to the executive level in 2013.

MR. JANIGAN:   Okay.  Where does that -- where is that on 4-16?  Where does that show up?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's not -- 4-16 are new positions, and bringing in -- yes, those are the new positions that we brought in since 2011's Board-approved.  So the reallocation of the individual who was director of engineering, engineering operations up to the executive level is not a new position.

And the addition in 2014 of the director of operations replaces a contract individual.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.

MR. MCKENZIE:  So that is not a position that we did not have previously.  It’s just we brought it in-house.

MR. JANIGAN:  The 4-15 shows all the company employees and from 2011, when engineering and operations, you moved people into executive position from that -- from the engineering operations, reducing it to 11.

MR. MCKENZIE:  One individual, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  In 2013.  You have two individuals that are gone from that –

I guess what I'm getting at is that I'm trying to understand all the employee costs that are associated with the operations from 2011, presumably in response to customer growth.

MR. MCKENZIE:  So they're all there.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We brought in an engineering technician, so that -- we brought in a communications specialist in 16, which is an increase in the executive level of 2014.

We were planning on bringing in a communications person in 2015, which increased another by an individual.  That position was postponed to 2016.

MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  And are you saying that all of the adds, I presume, were in response to customer growth?  The shifting around of different responsibilities or increasing the titles of individuals or the position of other individuals is -- are maybe part of customer growth, but also may be part of ordinary operations.  Am I correct on that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Some would be in response to customer growth.  Others would be in response -- for engineering, for example, we brought in additional people to work in the engineering department as technicians.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But I already dealt with that in 416.  So all the 416 ones were adds for customer growth; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  They’re new positions, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you also shifted around people, partly because of customer growth, but also partly because of ordinary operations; correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I would like to turn to tab 5 of my compendium, on page 19 and page 20 as well.  Can you explain to me what the 402,703 increase in costs related to finance, audit and security are?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We don't have it laid out specifically, I think, probably in the detail you're looking for.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Is it possible to provide a breakdown?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We can provide the information.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can I have an undertaking on that, please?

MR. RICHLER:  That will be undertaking J1.7, a breakdown of the 402,703 number.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 402,703 NUMBER


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel, those are all my questions for this panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Mr. Janigan.  It would probably be a good time now to take a lunch break, and we will resume at 2 o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:04 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:02 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  So I think we're ready for you, Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I do not have a compendium.  I'm sort of batting cleanup, so I get to do it off the scavenging, if you like.

So I want to start if I could -- I think I know all of you.  Yes.  I want to start by asking about something you said earlier -- I think it was you, Ms. Corkum -- that Milton has to compete with the GTA for employees?  Was that you?

MS. CORKUM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you explain that a little bit, please?

MS. CORKUM:  In terms of -- we're heavily influenced in terms of our salaries and wages and benefits, in terms of with staff levels.  And when you're a growing utility like we are, if you take linemen, for example -- and that's where we've always had our problem, getting some more experienced linemen in.  And as a result, we've had to compete from a salary basis very much in line with the larger LDCs.


Otherwise, what we've seen is, number one, we have a very difficult time finding experienced linemen.  Most are -- we have had a number that we have hired that have come from contractors.  They stay with us for a few years and then they're off to another LDC that is paying more, higher rates or getting closer to home or whatever the case may be, so we have been a bit of a -- had a -- especially with the linemen -- an issue in terms of retention.  And so we have tried the apprentice route, and we are doing that as well.  But there was a time when we had so few linemen that we couldn't bring in the number of apprentices that would have serviced us for the ongoing future.

So when I say that comment that we -- we're so close to the GTA area that in terms of our staff levels we're having to compete in terms of salaries, keeping our benefits, whatever, at that level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That cuts both ways, doesn't it?  There's also people in the industry who are attracted to the fact that working and living in Milton is cheaper than in Toronto or in Richmond Hill or whatever, and so you have an advantage as well that partly offsets that; is that fair?

MS. CORKUM:  We haven't seen that.  The home prices in Milton are quite high, and so the -- we haven't really seen that people are using that as an advantage to come out to Milton.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Cost of living is lower in Milton than in Mississauga?

MS. CORKUM:  Slightly -- oh, definitely from Toronto, but it is still -- we're still having to compete for the same resources, and when you have a skilled labour shortage such as linemen, you are having a problem, number one, number of LDCs are able to, you know, have all these apprentices that they grow with the utility.  We are having a problem, because we can't bring in that many at any one time.  So as our customers grow we try to bring in -- they are experienced linemen.  We haven't had very much success doing that to this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The next thing I want to ask about is density.  And you talked about that a little bit with Mr. Janigan.  And maybe you could turn to your slides 3 and 4.  And in those slides you talk about your density, and you say your 2014 density was 94.6 customers per square metre, right?

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're actually expecting it to be 98.8 in 2016; isn't that right?

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the comparison you've made is to LDCs, 25,000 to 100,000.  Have you compared to the whole industry?

MS. CORKUM:  No, we didn't do that comparison.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And would it surprise you to learn that if you compare it to the whole industry, excluding, obviously, Toronto, which is very high-density, and Hydro One, which is very low-density, if you exclude those two, that the industry average is 97.9, and you're almost dead-on?  Would that surprise you?

MS. CORKUM:  I'm assuming that your facts are correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess what I --


MS. CORKUM:  I don't know what you're -- are you asking a question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I guess what I'm trying to understand is if you're dead-on the industry average, how do you have a low-density problem?  You don't appear to have a low-density problem to me.

MS. CORKUM:  All we're -- the point that we are trying to make is that we have a very large rural area to service, and the -- normally -- you're excluding Hydro One.  I'm not sure why.  But normally with rural customers the cost -- OM&A cost per customer is higher to service those.  The underground -- undergrounding is usually less expensive, so when you're dealing with a service territory such as ours, where it is 85 percent rural, we are still doing -- we still have all the overhead lines to service.  And so it's -- we still have a great portion of our customers that -- at least the service territory that we're dealing with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but I also understand that you're on the industry average and therefore that, although you have a particular set of circumstances, it's average, isn't it?

MS. CORKUM:  Yes, but if you're going to compare us to all of the LDCs, then our OM&A per customer is well below every utility --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let's go to that then.  That was actually next on my list.  So your slides 11 and 12 talk about that.  And so you talk about your OM&A per customer.  And I'm just going to clarify one thing, if I could, please.

Can you go to Exhibit K1.5, which is the responses to the Energy Probe information request.  On page 4 of that is the OM&A cost per customer.

Now, these numbers are different.  Can you explain why?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The numbers used in the graph if you're looking on page 13 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  -- are year-end numbers, which is consistent with the way the Energy Board reports OM&A per customer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is why you're -- the reason I ask that is -- I'll go to increases in a second.  And so year-end numbers, as long as everybody is being compared on the same basis, it's going to be reasonably fair, right?  Your year-end numbers compared to everybody else's is going to be similar to your average numbers compared to everybody else's.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.  We did not have the average, so yearbook has the year-end.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And whereas table 4-12, Appendix 2L uses averages, which is why your customer number is lower -- your OM&A is the same, but your customer number is lower.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

All right.  Then I wonder if you can look, Ms. Corkum, at slide -- I think it's 11 -- 11, yeah.  And slide 11 shows that your OM&A per customer is actually not too bad relative to the other mid-sized utilities.

This is -- is this the peer group that's currently used?  It isn't, is it?

MS. CORKUM:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  This is an old peer group.

MS. CORKUM:  This is the old -- yeah, the old --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The old support.  And it's -- now that's been replaced.  The Board isn't using that any more.  It's using an econometric model to do the same thing, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the thing that strikes me here is Kitchener.  Now, Kitchener is in your neighbourhood, and it's way lower in costs than you and everybody else, for that matter.  Do you have any idea why that is?

MS. CORKUM:  We believe -- I -- no.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We don't know what makes up Kitchener's OM&A, why it's lower.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then I want to turn to you, Mr. Lasowski, because this is sort of now a different level of question.

If you see another utility that's -- I mean, it's a little bit bigger, but not a lot bigger, and it's in the same general area, has a lot of the same issues, and its OM&A per customer is much lower, what steps do you think you should take to try to find out why that is and to see whether you can get to that same place?

MR. LASOWSKI:  One of the things that does distinguish Kitchener is they are not a true LDC.  They do more than an LDC.  And certainly when you look at how they do things, it isn't as easy to get a true comparator to see where some of those benefits are coming.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How so?  They have regulated rates, too.  Their revenue requirement is calculated the same way, isn't it?

MR. LASOWSKI:  It is, but they have a broader customer base.  So not only are they bigger than we are in LDC customers, they have additional customers and can share probably -- but again, as Cameron just indicated, we're not sure exactly how they allocate all of their costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't investigated to see whether they have operational differences that would cause them to be more efficient than you?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No.  Formally, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Because we have -- I personally have asked some of the things that they do.  They certainly were ahead of us with some of their automation with respect to some of the equipment that they've been using.

They have indicated that being a multi-functional utility has helped and, in essence, that's sort of where the discussion ended.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Multi-functional being electricity, water, and sewage?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I believe they also do some gas, if I'm not mistaken.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They do gas?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I thought they did.  They do an -- that's why I'm a little hesitant in saying they do more than hydro.  I know they do more than hydro.  I'm not sure which utility it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me take the question back a different way.  What investigations are you doing to see what other utilities are doing to keep their costs down?  To what extent are you looking at other LDCs and saying they're doing something cool, we’ve got to do that, that will help us?

MR. LASOWSKI:  On a formal basis, or an informal basis?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Both.

MR. LASOWSKI:  On a formal basis, we have not done anything.  On an informal basis, we meet regularly with counterparts to see how they do it, not only on a basis within our immediate area, but also most of our senior staff is on the EDA councils and get information there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me turn to slide 13 of your presentation, Ms. Corkum.  You were careful to point out that you planned to still be below the industry average OM&A per customer even in 2016.

But this of course includes Hydro One and Toronto Hydro, doesn’t it?  That industry average of 337.80 includes Hydro One and Toronto Hydro, doesn't it?  I can't hear you, sorry.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MS. CORKUM:  Yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that they are so far outliers that they're not even included in the Board's statistical analysis, isn't that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, Jay, they’re not included in?

MR. SHEPHERD:  For example, the Board does formal benchmarking and excludes Toronto Hydro and Hydro One, is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  In certain cases, yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there some cases they don't?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That I don't know.  I would have to go through them all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That 33,780 includes Toronto Hydro and Hydro One; right?

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept, subject to check, that if you take them out, the industry average is 258.36? if you take them out?  Would you accept that, subject to check, the 2014 rated industry average is 258.36?

MS. CORKUM:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept, subject to check, that the 2014 weighted industry average OM&A per customer is 258.36?

MS. CORKUM:  Why would we be taking out Toronto Hydro, who is below the average on this chart?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Toronto Hydro and Hydro One are normally taken out of the calculations throughout.  But if you want to leave Toronto Hydro in, what it does is it reduces the industry average.

MS. CORKUM:  Okay.  But even at Hydro -- well, subject to check, we will look at that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I'm asking the question is that you're dead on the industry average, excluding the two big ones, for density.  And appear to be dead on the industry average in 2016, or slightly above it actually, for OM&A per customer; isn't that right?

In fact, you’d be a little above.  You’d be about probably ten more --

MR. PEREIRA:  If I can for a second?  Referring to the charts on page 13, if we look at the position of Toronto Hydro there -- towards the middle, not towards the top -- and if we look at Hydro One, they're not the highest OM&A in that grouping.

For our comparison, we're looking at the entire industry and in terms of arbitrary relief, removing those two for our purposes, it doesn't give the comparator across the board of what all the customers are experiencing in Ontario, and I think we want to see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's just not correct, is it?  The problem is that you're using a weighted average, aren’t you?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you use a weighed average, if something like 58 percent of the costs are in two utilities that happen to be high cost, that's going to bring up the weighted average by a lot, isn't it -- in fact, by $75, isn’t it?

MR. PEREIRA:  Most customers are in those two utilities.  So when you say that most customers in the province actually experience that number, so it's relevant to the discussion about what customers see in the province.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then what do you think the density, the weighted density of the industry is, if you include those two?

I can tell you what it is; it's about 7.  So your argument that your density is really low is not true if you include Hydro One -- or Toronto Hydro, for that matter.

And so isn't it fairer to take out the two that skew the data and say everyone else is at a certain place; isn't that fair?

MR. PEREIRA:  We recognize it's been done in the past.  We would have to do some more analysis just to see what really we're committing to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks a lot.  Let me move to the issue of capitalization, and this is really just to clarify some stuff.  I'm going to follow up with it afterwards, but first I want to clarify some things that I am not sure I don't understand.

You had a discussion with Mr. Janigan about page 11 of his compendium, which is K1.6, page 11.  I didn't understand your answers, and when I asked Mr. Janigan at the break, he admitted he didn't understand them either.  So I thought maybe we could clear them up.

So do you have that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I do, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m looking at page 11, and you see this line for total OM&A after capitalization, and in the middle there, you see 9,903,387.  That's your original OM&A number, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's a MIFRS number?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And actually, to get that correct, we would have to add $219,000 because you've adjusted since then; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if we add that, we'll in fact get 10,122, which is what your current ask is, right?  And right beside it, to the right of it, 9,117,462, that's the CGAAP equivalent OM&A for the test year, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, we would have to adjust that by the same 219, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's 9,336; would you accept that, subject to check?

MR. MCKENZIE:  If we're adding the same adjustment from -- it would be correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I look at those and I say okay, the impact of MIFRS capitalization on OM&A is $786,000 in the test year; am I wrong?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, that would make sense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then where is the million 455?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That begins with 2013; that's when we move to modified IFRS, and then each year there’s a little bit of difference, ’14, ’15.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's go to that cost driver table then; that's in K1.5 at page 3, right?  Is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Are we still in VECC's compendium?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, K1.5, which is the Energy Probe information request.  I think it's K1.5.  My copy says K1.5, anyway.  At -- and this is the cost driver table on page 3.  Appendix 2-JB.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  Yes, I've got it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that says the cumulative impact of overhead capitalization in the test year is a million-455, right?  If you add those up it's a million-455.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not true, is it?  The actual cumulative difference is the snapshot difference for 2016, which is 786, you just admitted; isn't that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That is the difference, but I'm not sure if it's the same relationship with the one-four-five-five, which is built up over the years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, no, it only builds up in the sense that it's a cost driver in different years as it kicks in, but at the end you're saying your revenue requirement, your OM&A, is 1-million-455 higher this year because of MIFRS, and that's not true, is it?  It's 786.

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, it's 1,455,000 is the driver over the 2011 Board-approved.  That's what the 1-million-455 represents.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How could that be?  Please explain that.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I would have to look at each individual year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here is what I'm going to ask you to do.  I'm going to ask you to reconcile Appendix 2-JB with this -- whatever this table is called, with 4 Staff 50, so that the difference between MIFRS and CGAAP is the same in both.  Cumulative difference is both, and I'm going to ask you to do that by way of undertaking and explain what changes you're making to make them reconcile.  And by the way, if the result is -- which I think it is -- that 4 Staff 50 is the correct number, then I'll ask you to redo Appendix 2-JB so that we see what the real cost drivers are for that other, whatever it is, $675,000.  Okay?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'll take the undertaking then.  We'll work it out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  We'll call that undertaking J1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO RECONCILE APPENDIX 2-JB WITH 4 STAFF 50, SO THAT THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN MIFRS AND CGAAP IS THE SAME IN BOTH AND EXPLAIN WHAT CHANGES YOU'RE MAKING TO MAKE THEM RECONCILE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Still on this 4 Staff 50, from page 11 of the VECC compendium, the -- if you take 2011 and 2016 both on a CGAAP basis, costs have gone up, the OM&A have gone up from 6,397 roughly to 9,336, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's a 46 percent increase?  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It would have to be checked, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:   Do you want to check it or do you want to accept it subject to --

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, no, no, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  Then your growth from -- in that same period is 20 percent, right?  I got that from your 2L, your numbers of customers from your 2L?  I got an increase in number of customers of 6,211 on a base of 30,461 from 2011 Board-approved.  So will you accept subject to check that that's 20 percent?

MR. MCKENZIE:  20 to 25 percent.  We would have to calculate it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You think it might be 25 percent?  6,211 into 30,461.  You think that could be --

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's about 20 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  20 percent.  Thank you.

And I'm right, am I not, that from 2011 to 2016 the cumulative inflation is around 10 percent?  We don't need to be exact here.  We're talking in hundreds of thousands of dollars.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That I don't know.  I know what the cumulative is from 2006, but not from '11 to '16.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, I'm going to use 10 percent, and if you don't think that's right we'll talk about it in argument.

And the reason I ask that is because I'm doing the math here, I'm saying, okay, let's take the 6,397, let's increase it by 20 percent for your number of customers, so no economies of scale, zero.  Let's also increase that by 10 percent for inflation, no productivity, and that's still $900,000 less than you're proposing today.

And so would you accept that roughly what we're arguing about here is $900,000 plus economies of scale plus productivity; is that fair?

MR. MCKENZIE:  And you have included in the items we mentioned in talking with Mr. Janigan the cost of SCADA, upgrade office management systems --

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no.  No, no, this --

MR. MCKENZIE:  Those are additional costs that you're not including.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, this is the gross amount.  Right?  This is what the difference is between empirical data and what you're actually proposing.  Then obviously an explanation is required, right?  So you have 900,000 plus productivity plus economies of scale.  Call it a million-two, let's say, and then you have to say, okay, what are we spending that million-two on that's good for the customers?  That's where I'm going.  Fair?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'm not clear on your calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So with no productivity and no economies of scale, the difference is $900,000.  You're asking for $900,000 more.  Productivity and economies of scale is something, right?  I don't care what the number is.  Make it 100,000.  I don't care.  Let's say we're talking about $1-million.  I mean, this'll all be calculated in more detail in argument.  I'm trying to get a general sense here.

If you have this extra million dollars, let's call it, I'm asking, what are the customers getting for that, for that extra million dollars?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  I don't necessarily agree that there is an extra million dollars or an extra -- based on your -- you have some growth calculation that you -- if we had a Board-approved growth methodology, that would be different, that it would be consistent across all utilities.  But you're calculating a growth factor, correct?  That's what you're implying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying your customers grew by 20 percent.  It's not complicated.  I'm saying that every time you have new customers -- customer, you have to increase your cost by the same percent.  We know it's less.  But I'm giving you the benefit of the doubt.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Okay.  I still have to see your calculation to know what you're coming up with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I'm giving you the opportunity to explain what the customers are getting for that extra million dollars or whatever the number is.  The actual calculations will be in argument, and we can argue about them at that time.  But it's only fair to ask you, if you're asking the customers to pay an extra million dollars, what are they getting for it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Not all those costs, though, are customer-related.  There are internal costs within the company that we have gone through and realized that we need.  Customers have asked for a communications person.  We know internally that we need HR resources, that everyone is handling their own hirings and firings.

So those are costs -- customer service reps.  Those are costs that are required by Milton Hydro to continue into 2016.  So they may not directly relate to what customers get, except from the point that they may receive better communications.

But by putting in the different systems -- SCADA, outage management, GIS -- it's our expectation that we will have improved reliability for customers.  We will be able to provide better communications with outage maps and estimated times of repair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't made any commitment to improve your reliability, have you?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, that's all part of the work we're doing.  It's always an endeavour to strive to improve reliabilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a yes-no question.  I heard the discussion about reliability, and I didn't hear anywhere that anybody in the company is saying we will improve our reliability over the next five years.  Will you?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's our intention, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you will improve your customer service metrics?

MR. MCKENZIE:  They're pretty high now, so it's difficult to improve those.  But we will strive to maintain them.

MR. SHEPHERD:   Well, maintaining them should mean the same cost per customer, shouldn’t it, or even less because it's not incremental, is it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  If we need an additional CSR to maintain that, we will do so.  If we need an additional engineer person for the systems that we have, we will do that.  They all change, the costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I guess what I don't understand is why you would think that increasing a cost is okay, if the customers aren't getting something for it.  I don't understand that.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, that’s not what we are implying.  We have increased costs to run the business.  We have costs that customers have asked for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the communication specialist, I get that a hundred percent.  You add a communication specialist because the customers want better communication.  I don't have any problem with that at all.

But all the normal costs associated with the fact that you're growing and the fact that you have more customers, aren't those all included in the inflation rate and in the growth rate?  Aren't they all included there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, I don't agree.  There are costs we need as a company, as we transition into a larger distributor, being HR resources and the like.  And those are costs that increase, and they serve us as a corporation.

They don't always necessarily serve the customer, except that we have the staff to maintain our levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to turn to page 19 of the VECC compendium.  This is table 4-2 from Exhibit 4, page 5; do you see that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  What page was that of the compendium?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 19.  You gave undertaking J1.7 with respect to this 403,000 increase in finance.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that’s fine.  But I'm going to turn to you, Ms. Corkum.  Finance is your area, right?

MS. CORKUM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This $400,000, presumably you know in a rough sense what this 400 is?

MS. CORKUM:  Yeah  If you look on the PowerPoint presentation, a lot of those costs are captured in the new systems that we have been putting in, and the new consulting services that have been highlighted there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Show me where that is.

MS. CORKUM:  I'll tell you in one second here.  Page 23.  So we've already undertaken to outline the breakdown of those.  But in a lot of cases, that is what the additional expense is for increased audit, legal, the different new software, and consulting services, disaster recovery.  We've implemented the NorthStar application with ERTH, the UtilAssist, the EMI operator services, things like that that are --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's $105,000; this is $403,000.

MS. CORKUM:  And the software support is -- I know that Trilliant is included in the -- I think it's a new -- what is it, billing or meter reading.  But the other work management system software and the financial upgrade, those costs are included in there as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Trilliant is 200,000 of it, or something like that, right?

MS. CORKUM:  135.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I'm looking at 193 in table 4.2, is that wrong?  Meter reading is dropping by 193 which is Trilliant, right?  Or is only 135 of that Trilliant?

MS. CORKUM:  That's because we were paying for a service for Trilliant, so that's dropping off.  But at the same time, the billing and collections has been revised.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they've been increased by 135?

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of this 275 you see on slide 23, 135 of it -- Trilliant is nothing do with the 403,000, is it?

MS. CORKUM:  No, I've said that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So far, you’ve told me about 245,000 of it, even if all the software support is all in finance, it does seem strange that you have 403.  So where is the other 160,000?  Do you know where it is?

I don't see anything on this list that could be an explanation.  These incremental cost drivers, none of them are big enough.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We have an undertaking already.  We'll provide that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking a different question.  I'm asking the head of the finance department to explain; it's big number.

MS. CORKUM:  Yes, it is, and we've undertaken to give a full disclosure on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know what it is?

MS. CORKUM:  It's made up of numerous things very -- under materiality.  But it is made up of numerous increases that have gone on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The next thing I want to ask about is in the second SEC question, which is in my pile.

I don't think this has been marked as an exhibit, Mr. Chairman.  It is the information request for School Energy Coalition, March 24.  I don't believe it's been marked.

MR. RICHLER:  No.  We'll mark that as Exhibit K1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  INFORMATION REQUEST FOR SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION, MARCH 24

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Aiken actually referred to it, but I don't think that it was marked as an exhibit at the time.

And we're going to talk about the building a little bit more later.  But I want to ask about one in thing in the OM&A component, and this is on page 3 of the document.  Do you have that in front of you?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were asked about this, I think by Mr. Aiken perhaps.  Hydro, water, sewage, 200,000 and I think you've given an undertaking as to what that is.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It occurred to me your new building is LEED Silver, isn’t it?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's not registered, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is qualified?  Your evidence says you renovated it to LEED Silver standard; is that not true?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It's never been tested to see whether it’s been passed or not.  It was never registered, but we followed the format for the LEED Silver.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Here is what I wanted to ask: Did you do an analysis -- normally, one of the things you do when you try to follow LEED is you do an analysis of costs and benefits associated with that compliance.  And there is actually a format to do it, right?  You've seen that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That design was left up to the architect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Did anybody do an analysis of the costs of reaching that level and the savings associated with that level?  It's normal practice when you do a LEED.

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, I don't believe that has been done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not done.  Okay.

Let me then move to -- oh, yes.  This is Energy Probe supplementary questions K1.5 on page 5.  This is the updated Appendix 2-JC or table 4-13, whichever you prefer.  Do you have that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it should be up on the screen.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We have nothing on our screens.

MR. MCKENZIE:  I guess that would help, wouldn't it?  My apologies.  All along I thought you had the information that I was looking at.

My apologies.  That should have been up on your monitors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is now.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And it will be up on the screens momentarily.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is.  Okay.  So I wanted to ask about some of these just so that I can understand where the issues are.  And take a look at engineering and operations administration.  That's gone up from zero to eleven-forty-five-three-thirty-five.  Am I right that that's primarily  -- not entirely but primarily because of this change from CGAAP to MIFRS?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That would be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, but you've also added a person there, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wouldn't all be -- wouldn't all be --


MR. MCKENZIE:  Throughout the time frame we have added engineering technician and a SCADA technician, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That go in engineering and operations administration.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that eleven-forty-five-three-thirty-five, can you break that out between MIFRS and -- between the MIFRS impact and the real-people impact?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Possibly.  That's all I can say.  We can try.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  An undertaking is fine.

MR. RICHLER:  You will give that undertaking?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We will attempt to try to break that out between the two.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  So we'll call that J1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO BREAK OUT THE ELEVEN-FORTY-FIVE-THREE-THIRTY-FIVE BETWEEN THE MIFRS IMPACT AND THE REAL-PEOPLE IMPACT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the next line down is load dispatching.  Now, load dispatching is -- and you've talked about this already.  This is the deal with Guelph, right?

MR. PEREIRA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you did load dispatching before, you just didn't pay Guelph for it, right?  So where were those costs before?

MR. PEREIRA:  We did not have a controller beforehand, so the controlling authority or the control room is new to Milton Hydro.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I mean, you ran your system.

MR. PEREIRA:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the costs of running the system were somewhere.

MR. PEREIRA:  So we had the crews, and maybe if I can just elaborate a little bit, if you would like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PEREIRA:  Our crews were -- you know, so we're growing, so we came from a situation where the plant was small.  The crews knew the status of the plant, so we had a limited number of feeders.  We've been adding feeders to the system, et cetera.  So they would manage that themselves.  So they would go in the field, they would know the status of the feeders and the small number of crews, they would know where the crews were, et cetera.

And so as we've gotten bigger, this is one of those incremental things where we need a control room because we're getting additional feeders from different TSs, different crews working on the system, and so from an operations safety perspective, that's why we went to the control room.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There's a point at which you just can't keep track of where everybody is, right?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what they're doing.

MR. PEREIRA:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that -- the old system, although it was useful from the point of view that it was very immediate, it was inefficient, right?  It's more efficient to have a centralized system where you keep track of where everybody is or what they're doing.

MR. PEREIRA:  Well, I'll answer that in this situation.  In the old days, where everybody -- you know, I'll use the phrase that the crews will tell us -- knew the system like the back of their hand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PEREIRA:  They knew.  Now, I agree with you, now, where it's multiple crews, multiple configuration switches, yes, you need a central body to be able to maintain that technology.  I agree with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's more efficient now than it was before.

MR. PEREIRA:  Under the present scenario, so meaning the way the system is set up right now, it's necessary.  In terms of -- because there's a higher need -- there's a greater need for that kind of functionality in there, we don't have a comparator we can get to, because we never operated this complicated a system under the old way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's an interesting comment, because in fact one of the things that's happened as you've gotten bigger is your system has gotten more complex.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  It's not just bigger, it's more complicated.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.  I believe that's what I was trying to say just when I said that additional feeders, additional crews, that sort of thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but it's not just that you have more of them, it's that understanding the nature of the interactions within your system is now harder to do, because it's more complicated, right?  You have different types of switches, you have different types of control systems, et cetera, right?

MR. PEREIRA:  I agree with your context.  Some of the examples aren't accurate, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm not --


MR. PEREIRA:  -- in general, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here is why I'm asking this.  I'm wondering whether that $150,000 cost is somewhere else in the old data, it's just buried somewhere, or whether it just didn't happen because the system wasn't complicated enough to need it.

MR. PEREIRA:  So let me answer this way, and I can elaborate on it, if you'll forgive if I'm not answering you directly.  So I mentioned earlier that the crews were managing themselves, so they would know where the feeders are, so they would be managing on an ongoing basis, so those costs were captured within that exercise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just let me stop you there before you go on.  A lot of the utilities back in the old days, as it were, actually had all the crews come to a central place first thing in the morning and figure out what they were going to do for the day, often with each other; right?  Is that what you used to do?

MR. PEREIRA:  Well, the supervisors met with the crews either the day before or the day of and assigned jobs, so I believe that's what you're saying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Whereas now you don't do that, right?  Do the crews come to a central place, or do they actually in many cases go directly to where they're starting work?

MR. PEREIRA:  Oh, they still come to a central place, because it's -- they're still planning out the job, so the controlling authority is one aspect of it, but that whole, here is the job, here is what has to be done, that still happens.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you're not getting a huge additional efficiency from the Guelph deal.  What you're getting is you're solving a problem of increased complexity.

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, so safety, complexity, yes, I would tend to agree with that.  That's fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me go to the --


MR. MCKENZIE:  One thing on the control room, though, please.  It's -- in 2011 we did have provisions to develop a control room with the computers, with the hardware, the software, and staffing, and we didn't do that.  And as an alternative we postponed it and we looked into other alternatives from doing it in-house ourselves, and Guelph was a viable alternative for us to move to to establish control facilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the ratepayers wish more utilities would do that.  That's good.  What I'm trying to do is get comparisons between 2011 and 2016, and this is a comparison where you're legitimately spending more money because you have a step function in complexity; fair?

MR. MCKENZIE:  And we save the requirement to have it internally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me ask about meter expense, because that's gone up 150 percent over that five years.  And do we have an explanation somewhere as to why that is?  I looked in the evidence to see whether there's an explanation for that, and there probably was, I just, I couldn't find it.

MR. MCKENZIE:  In 2012, we did hire two meter individuals to assist in the metering department.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there more work?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, because those individuals looked after the metering.  They're also involved in installing the hardware for smart systems.  The WiMAX systems, they've been involved in establishing and installing as well.  So there is additional work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is an expanded functionality that ultimately should pay off for the customer, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's what we're hoping.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It should pay off in reduced SAIFI -- no SAIDI, right?  Is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because outages will simply last a shorter period of time?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's the intent with the smart system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it will also allow the functional basis for future smart systems whether they’re supplied by the utility or supplied by the marketplace, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct, we’re joining utilities -- yes, we're all involved in the regional planning as well.

MS. SHEPHERD:  So is it fair to categorize that increase in cost as one that is driven by an improved outcome for the customers?  Is that fair?

I said the word "outcome", I'm sorry.  Is it an improved -- a benefit to the customers?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, I would say that, and it should be an improved outcome with the smart systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move to tree trimming, and you have talked about this in your application.  It's gone up 220 percent since 2011.  That's not in response to the ice storm, right, because it actually went up in 2011.  So can you give us just a high level explanation as to why that big increase makes sense?

MR. MCKENZIE:  If you compare 2011 Board-approved, that was not the best estimate of where we are with our tree trimming.  In 2011, we actually spent considerably more, up to $418,000; that was our actual.  And that's been fairly consistent over the years, the 349, 315, 473.

But then after the ice storm, we redid our tree trimming policy and how we were going to go about tree trimming.  We filed that with our Z-factor application and what we've done now is we're more aggressive in tree trimming, and doing it by type of tree and expected tree growth as opposed to just going through the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this something you've discussed with the municipality?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we did, actually this is the municipality --


MR. PEREIRA:  Let me jump in.  We actually -- just to build on that, we actually had an open house with customers and municipal representatives.  It wasn't just about tree trimming.  It was outcomes from the ice storm, and one of the presentations at that open house where the municipality was attending was to do tree trimming, what we were planning to do.

And we asked them to provide their feedback to us, which we incorporated into the final standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was in response to the ice storm, though, right.  The municipality and the customers said, look, if you trim better, we'll have less problems with ice, right?

MR. PEREIRA:  Yes, it was a follow-up from the ice storm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But prior to that -- your Board approved was 172, and my recollection -- tell me whether this is wrong, but that's sort of what you were spending prior to 2011, too?  Isn’t it in that range?

MR. PEREIRA:  What I can tell you is this.  We used to have a lumpy spend because we had broken up into areas that were -- there was a northern area which was very intensive in tree trimming requirements.  There was a more urban area that was less so.  And there was a second rural area to the south.

So without being able to quote the numbers directly now, I can tell you that we would experience ups and downs based on what area we were spending in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your years prior to 2011, none were at 418,000, were they?

MR. PEREIRA:  I'm not sure what that spend was then, to be honest at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm just sort of looking for an explanation.  What I'm trying to get at is at some point did the municipality say to you, look, we're a growing municipality.  We want to look nicer, so we want you to spend a little more money to do this in a more attractive way -- because often municipalities do say that.  I'm asking if they did say that to you.


MR. MCKENZIE:  To make the trimming look more esthetically pleasing?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It's a common discussion between municipalities and LDCs.

MR. PEREIRA:  There was -- I don't believe there was a formality discussion.  It was more so from customers, to be honest, with customers coming back to us concerned about what we were doing with trees and the impact of our tree trimming program.

So we had that discussion with customers.  There was nothing formal in terms of an open house, or anything of that nature.  It was just a feedback that we get from customers on a semi-regular basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Mr. Chairman, I have about ten minutes left.  It's all still in this same document, but I'm moving to a different part of the document.  Do you want to take a break now, or would you rather I finished?

DR. ELSAYED:  Why don't you continue and then we'll take a break after that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Let me move down to the line that says "billing finals and collection".  What's finals, by the way?  I remember finals from a long, long time ago but I didn't like them.  This is your area, Ms. Corkum?

MS. CORKUM:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what finals is?

MS. CORKUM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me?

MS. CORKUM:  Final accounts.  So this is billing and customer service, so our customer service department would look after final bills when a customer closes an account.  It would also look after collections, billing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this area increased by 44 percent over -- since 2011.  In fact, since 2011 actuals, even more than that.  But I'm looking at Board-approved right now.

Forty-four percent and since you're only increased by 20 percent in customers, I take it that that's -- that your cost per customer has increased significantly.  Why is that?

MS. CORKUM:  We have -- There's a few things in here, so additional staff.  We brought in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me stop you, just to be clear on my question.  I'm not so much asking what are the things you're spending the money on.  I'm looking for the reasons why the cost per customer is increasing.

MS. CORKUM:  In that area?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CORKUM:  There were a number of things that we actually -- if you look at our cost drivers, we implemented using ERTH to help with our NorthStar application processes.  We've used UtilAssist now for sync operation services that we did not have in 2011.

Again, we brought AMI in-house and that is -- so offsetting the Trilliant AMI services, we brought that in and the support is now being included.  But that's pretty much a wash.

But generally, in terms of billing, it's becoming much more complex.  There’s more things that are required in terms of us meeting the regulatory requirements.  We've introduced OESP over the last year, and those costs are included in there, the testing of that.  Any of the low income programs, LEAP, trying to service those.

So any of the changes that have been made from a regulatory standpoint have been incorporated into those increasing costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can go back -- go forward one or back one page -- I don't know where I am now -- back two pages to the cost driver table, because I'm looking at the cost driver table trying to find the things that are increasing your billing costs -- sorry, your -- yeah, your billing finals and collection costs, and things like -- for example, monthly billing is not actually going up.  If you look across the board it's not going up.

MS. CORKUM:  We are monthly billing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you see there is a line there that says monthly billing, right?  That line is not going up.  Postage, it's going up a little bit, not much.  So I'm looking here for cost drivers that relate to that $635,000 increase in billing finals and collections.  I can't find them.  Maybe I'm just missing them.  Maybe they're there and I just don't see them.

Would you like to undertake to answer that?  I'm trying to get what -- the 635,458, how does that track to your cost drivers?  Could you undertake to do that?

MS. CORKUM:  Sure.  Will do.

MR. RICHLER:  That undertaking will be numbered J1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.10:  TO EXPLAIN HOW COST DRIVERS RELATE TO THE $635,000 INCREASE IN BILLING FINALS AND COLLECTIONS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now I want to turn to what the biggest area is, and that is administration.  My notes say, well, here is the problem.  So I'm looking at this area, and if you take out rent, because you're not paying rent any more, right?  So if you just look at administration without rent, my calculation is that it goes up from two-million-225 in 2011 without rent to three-million-960 in the test year, and that's an increase of $1.7 million or 78 percent.  And I'm thinking, wow.  That's a lot.


Now, some of it is building expenses.  I see that.  289,000 is building expenses.  But that's only a small part of the $1.7 million, and maybe you could help me just sort of walk me through these increases and why they make sense and what the customers are getting for these increases, starting, if you like, with administration wages, which is the biggest of them.  The 72 percent increase.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Jay, we'll take this as an undertaking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no --


MR. MCKENZIE:  -- only because it involves people in the administration side of the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a-million-dollar increase.  You can at least give us a description of why you're increasing administration wages by 72 percent over five years when your customer growth is 20 percent.

MS. CORKUM:  Probably the two large -- the -- just on the largest increases is in 2011 administration and wages include the two new positions of director of operations and director of engineering.  They were not included in that in 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When were they added?

MS. CORKUM:  They were added in -- I think we looked at a chart just recently -- it was 2013, I believe, for the director of operation -- engineering and 2014 for the director of operations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So presumably adding those two executive positions, which we talked about earlier, I agree, presumably adding those two executive positions meant that things ran more efficiently, true?  It wasn't just a cost.

MS. CORKUM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then where were the savings?

MS. CORKUM:  The savings were in terms of our -- able to continue to maintain our OM&A per cost at a reasonable level while we're still trying to deal with this significant growth impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but what we're seeing is in fact is your OM&A is not being contained.  We're seeing that your OM&A, which was much better than the rest of the industry, has now gone to the industry's level.  So your performance in the rest of industry has declined, agreed?

MS. CORKUM:  All I have right now is all we have is based on the 2014 yearbook, and at that point in time we were ranked seventeenth out of the LDCs in the province --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying --


MS. CORKUM:  -- so I have nothing to say at this point that -- I mean, you could be very well right, but we don't have any later information than that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to turn to you, Mr. Lasowski, because this is sort of a -- maybe the biggest issue that we're dealing with aside from the building.  This is a-million-dollar increase in your administration wages.  You're obviously familiar with this happening, right?  You'd be concerned about that, right?  Is that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  I'm not sure what you mean by "concerned", but I think as has been sort of demonstrated this morning and tried to show is that we are also going through a transition of a smaller utility to a larger utility.  We need some corporate infrastructure that has to be put in place.  That increase is there, and it certainly is an inflationary increase if you didn't have it in 2011.  So anything that we're adding is above and beyond an inflationary increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you can't just add costs, right?  You have to add costs for a purpose, right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  True.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, one of these people wasn't even added, they were just moved from one category to another; isn't that right?

MR. LASOWSKI:  That is part of the conversion to MIFRS, yes.  They were included in engineering because we had to change.  They ended up going into administration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So engineering costs should go down.  You move a person, you can't increase --


MR. LASOWSKI:  Well, and they did.  They went down by that person, but as has been shown in the tables, we've added other people into engineering.  So you will not see a net decrease, but certainly the person that was removed has lowered that cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Have you taken any action, Mr. Lasowski, to ask your executive team, your increased -- your expanded executive team, which I'm not objecting to.  I don't think that's a bad idea.  But have you taken any action to ask them to look at these cost increases and figure out how to reverse these trends?

MR. LASOWSKI:  What we have done, and when we do our annual budgets, is we try to only include those costs that we feel are totally necessary.  We do not put in, as has been indicated earlier, bodies and costs for the sake of, you know, saying it'll make it easier down the road.  We do tend to do as much as we can, and then when we need another body we add the body.  A lot of these costs you're talking about are bodies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked earlier about the value proposition for your customers.  I think it was you.  Maybe that's my words.  I have it in quotes, so somebody said value proposition.

So I'm asking a question probably for you, Mr. Lasowski.  You're proposing increases in costs to your customers.  I'm going to ask you again the same question about the building, by the way, and I'm asking what are the customers getting for that?  Is it just better communication and a hope that there will be improved reliability, or is there something else?

MR. LASOWSKI:  No, I think the customers are expecting and are getting that we are going to keep not only our existing numbers with respect to efficiencies as well as reliability, by increasing our broader base in both the technology and in people.

One of the things that I think has been alluded to is that as we go through a growth in our staff, there are other legal requirements that we need to do; keeping track of it, keeping track of people's certificates.  We have gone through that transition where you could do a lot just by memory.

Now, with respect to some of the programs that are in place, we need to maintain all of these records.  So what we are trying to do is lay that foundation that we can leverage and get those economies of scales.  But you need the foundations in place, and we have gone through this transition where we didn't have a foundation; we're building it.

If you ask me are we there yet; no, we still will probably have some more growth, and what we’ve got to do is lay the foundations.  But once the foundations are in place, that's when we can start recognizing economies of scale.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a proposed increase in your OM&A over five years.  I think we calculated it about 38 percent -- no, no, 46 percent over five years.  Is it fair for this Board to assume and expect that when you come again in five years, that that increase will be substantially lower than that?  Is that a fair expectation?

MR. LASOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I have no further questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  It’s probably a good time for the break now.  We will take roughly 15 minutes.  We will be back at 3:30 with the Staff.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:15 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:37 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Mr. Richler, your turn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Richler:

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  As anticipated, the intervenors have covered many of the areas where we had questions, but I do have a few big-picture questions, as well as after that I would like to drill down on a few line items.

I don't have a compendium.  I'm going to piggyback on the compendiums that were distributed earlier, as well as a couple of the other exhibits that were entered this morning.

I would first ask you to turn to Exhibit K1.5, which is the March 24th, 2016 response to Energy Probe's questions, and turn to table 4-13, Appendix 2-JC, if you would, please.  This is a table we've looked at quite a bit already today, but now I would ask you to look at the bottom line.

And we heard a lot today about the impact of the switch to MIFRS, so to keep things simple let's start in 2013, the first MIFRS year.  And you see that the total OM&A was $8,435,973, and then that's increased to the 2016 test year, which is $10,122,448.  Do you see that?  And would you accept that that amounts to about a 20 percent increase in total OM&A cost from 2013 to 2016?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, if you turn to the table on the previous page, table 4-12, Appendix 2L, you see in the first row -- we see the -- your total number of customers.  And again, if you compare 2013 actuals to 2016 test year, you see a jump of about 10.5 percent.  Will you accept that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, it will be just over 10 percent.

MR. RICHLER:  So customers have been growing at a rate of just over 10 percent, and total OM&A has been growing at a rate of 20 percent.  So OM&A is rising at nearly twice the rate of customer growth; correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, Mr. Janigan asked you earlier why we aren't seeing the economies of scale that one might expect to see.  And I believe in your response you spoke about how the rate of OM&A per customer has not plateaued yet because Milton is growing so fast.  Is my memory okay there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'm not sure that's what was said.

MR. RICHLER:  Well, let me just ask it in my own words.  When do you expect to see OM&A per customer to level off or decline?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I don't think we've typically forecasted out beyond '16 for OM&A impacts by customer.

MR. RICHLER:  I'm not necessarily asking for a particular year or particular date, but just a rough sense of when you think the trend is going to change, if at all?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Given that all else remains consistent, we have got the new systems in, we've incurred the cost now, we have the five new employees that we're looking for for '16, then we should start to smooth out our OM&A per customer, I would say over the next five years, prior to any rebasing application.

MR. RICHLER:  In your presentation this morning you said that Milton's OM&A compares favourably to other LDCs of a similar size, so let's look at the table in your presentation called "2014 OM&A per customer Ontario LDCs, 25,000 to 100,000".  This is at page 12.  Have you got that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we do.

MR. RICHLER:  This shows that in 2014 Milton's OM&A per customer of $243 was 9 percent better than the average of its cohort.  But isn't it right that Milton's OM&A is set to rise to $276 in the test year, which would actually be a bit worse than the 2014 average of LDCs in this table?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The 276 is based on average number of customers.  These tables are based on the OEB yearbooks, which are year-end customer counts, so it would be down to $270 and change, which -- 270.21 reflected on the next page, 13.

MR. RICHLER:  Right.  And 270 -- granted we're talking about different years, but 270 is a little above the average OM&A per customer of 267 shown on this table on this chart on page 12.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Correct.  2000 -- the number you're referring to is 2014.  So the 270.21 is two years later.

MR. RICHLER:  Right.

MR. MCKENZIE:  So OM&A average for the peer group 25 to 100,000 customers has not been adjusted by any stretch for two years of OM&A costs.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  And if we look at the table on the page before that, so I'm on page 11 of your presentation, called "the comparison of Ontario electricity distributors", we see that in 2014 Milton scored slightly better than the average for its peer group, but again, if we were to use the 2016 number for Milton, let's say 270, I believe, is the year-end number, I think you said?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Then Milton would be just about near the top.  It looks like they would be in about third place.  And of course, recognizing that again we're comparing different years and other LDCs may have adjusted their OM&A spending.  But will you agree with me that if you look at the 270 number, you're higher -- you're towards the higher end of the table?

MR. MCKENZIE:  In comparing the 2016 to 2014, recognizing that some of these distributors will incur OM&A costs that Milton Hydro will not be incurring, such as inflation factors reverting to monthly billing.  Many utilities have to incur those costs yet.

So the comparison of '16 to '14 really may not be relevant.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's go to page 20 of your presentation called -- this is a chart called "customers per employee, 2014".  Do you see that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And this shows that in 2014 Milton did better than average in terms of customers per employee.  And yet what this table doesn't show is a deterioration of this metric in the bridge and test years.  If we look again at the updated table 4-12, which again is in Exhibit K1.5, we see that in 2015 customers per employee falls a little from 665 to 645, and then there is quite a significant drop from 645 to 596 in 2016; right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  When we adjust again the customer count for year end, which is reflected in these tables, the average is about 606.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you know what that -- Do you have a forecast for the 2016 year end customer count?

MR. MCKENZIE:  In 2016, the meter customers would be 37,461.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  One efficiency measure that some use to measure cost performance is OM&A cost per kilometre of line.  I don't recall seeing any evidence of how Milton would score on this metric.  Have you done such analysis?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, we have not.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you know how many kilometres of line you’ve got, and how quickly that number is rising?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It is in the yearbook for 2014.  I can try and find it for you, if you like.  It shows a total overhead and total underground lines in the yearbook for 2014.  What we have for '16 or proposed for ’16, we would have to get that number.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  I won't ask you to look up the yearbook, because we can do that.  But if you can provide the numbers for '15 and ’16, please.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We can give you 2015.  2016 at this time is unknown.  A lot of our capital, 65 percent of it is driven by third parties such as subdivisions, line removals, things like that -- relocations.

So we don't have an exact number for '16 because we don't know what subdivisions may take off for the year.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We can give an estimate.  Based on what we know now, we can give you an estimate.

 MR. RICHLER:  I'll take that as an undertaking then.  So 2015 actuals and the 2016 estimate, please.

MR. MCKENZIE:  We'll take that.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.11:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE FOR 2016 OM&A COST PER KILOMETRE OF LINE

MR. RICHLER:  Do you know what's rising faster, your OM&A spending or your total length of line?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No.  Do we have an undertaking number for that?

MR. RICHLER:  J1.11, I'm sorry.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Thank you.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's go back to your presentation from this morning for a moment, please.  On page 9, you've got a chart showing the rapid rise in Halton Region population especially in Milton.  And my first question is -- it says near the top the source is the Halton BPE June 2011.  Can you explain what that is, what the source of this is?

MR. MCKENZIE:  It’s Halton Region best planning estimates and it was done in -- completed in June 2011 and projected out to 2031.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you have any information as to whether the June 2011 estimates for Milton population have proven to be true?

Do you know what Milton's population is today, and whether this straight line upward growth is still a legitimate, valid projection?

MR. MCKENZIE:  At the end of ’15, Milton's population was approximately 105,000.

MR. RICHLER:  As far as you know, is this trend line still accurate?  Are we still seeing this same steady rate of super growth, as you call it?

MR. PEREIRA:  The best planning estimates are just a reflection -- not just, a reflection of the region’s projections for Halton.  In terms of what's happened over the last little bit, I think earlier on it was --somebody talked about how there was an issue with the development community and the Region of Halton in terms of development charges.  That issue has been resolved.

Now, what happens going forward in terms of are they going to meet the trend, or are they going to underachieve, we don't know.  It's based -- it's dependent solely on the Development community and their arrangements with the municipality.

MR. RICHLER:  Fair enough.  Do you have at your fingertips, or do you recall what your customer forecasts were at the time you did your last cost-of-service application in 2011?

MR. MCKENZIE:  I'm going to say it's either 1,000 customers or it's 1,500, and I would have to look that up and I can do that relatively quickly.  Actually one second.  I can give you the actuals.

In 2011, we did forecast for 30,460 customers, and our actuals at the end of 2011 were 30,485.  We did provide in an IR response our forecast over a five-year period, and it was -- we forecasted approximately 6,000 customers and came in at 6,027 actuals.

MR. RICHLER:  Sorry, the 6,000 was over which period?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Five years, and I believe it was '11 to '15.  But it has been filed in one of the IRs.


MR. RICHLER:  Okay, thank you.  Now, we spoke a lot about the rapid growth and your staff head count, so I don't have much to add to that, but one question I wanted to ask.

You indicated that one of the hires was effectively a replacement for -- or followed the expiry of your contract with Trilliant.  So this is an AMI operator who you effectively brought in-house, am I right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you just talk a little bit more about that?  Why was the contract allowed to expire?  What was your thinking there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  The contract ended in December with Trilliant, and it was a contract that Trilliant were not interested in renewing, so we took it over.  We hired an AMI operator who is also going to be used to run other software programs relating to the metering systems.

MR. RICHLER:  And do you expect that by doing this, by bringing this in-house, it will result from cost savings?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We really didn't have a decision to make from the Trilliant's perspective.  But we will be able to utilize the staff person in other areas with metering and meter reading.

MR. RICHLER:  So there is nothing you could give by way of quantification of any cost savings?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, no, and I don't expect there will be in the near future.

Just to mention, though, when we took -- when we agreed to take over the Serviewcom contract it was considerably less than the 135,000.  They have come back with that -- so it was just over, say, 110, 115,000, and then it came in at 135 when the -- sorry, I might have to correct that.

Sorry.  The original cost of the maintenance contract was supposed to be 15 percent of the cost of the software, and the software was around 115 to 118,000, so we were expecting approximately $18,000 in costs to take over this Trilliant contract.  And it came in at 135,000.  So initially when we hired the MAI -- the AMI operator, we did expect a savings.

MR. RICHLER:  Let's go back to table 4-13, Appendix 2-JC again -- this is in Exhibit K1.5 -- and look at a couple of line items where there have been significant revisions arising from the unaudited end-of-year numbers.

One area where there was a big swing is in the maintenance underground conductors row, where you revised the expense from $39,010 to $102,986.  Do you see that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  And that's about two-and-a-half times higher, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Can you please provide a rationale for the increase from the previous bridge-year forecast and the actual number?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We have an idea, but we're not exactly sure, so if you'd like we can -- some of it is related to underground faults.  The 2015 bridge was just based on previous years' history, so if we want to make up to the 102,000 or whichever, we can figure that out for you.

MR. RICHLER:  Sure, I'll take that undertaking, so that will be J1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12:  TO PROVIDE A RATIONALE FOR THE INCREASE FROM THE PREVIOUS BRIDGE-YEAR FORECAST AND THE ACTUAL NUMBER.

MR. RICHLER:  And then my next question is, why did this change not prompt you to revise the 2016 test-year amount from the previous level of 21,714, which is way below the revised 2015 actual?

MR. MCKENZIE:  You're referring to the difference in 2016 of test to bridge?  Why it went down?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.  But I'm saying, yeah, why not update the 2016 number in light of what you now know about 2015?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Well, when we did update the 2016 test numbers it was based on our 2016 budget.  The 102 is what's come in at the end of the year as the unaudited numbers.  So at the time when we did the 2016 budget we did not have all of the 2015 maintenance costs.

MR. RICHLER:  On the same table, let's look at the meter expense row, and here you revise the expense from $435,000, approximately, to $251,000, approximately, a decrease of about 42 percent, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And again, I would ask what accounts for the revision.

MR. MCKENZIE:  In 2015 what we forecasted or put in the bridge year, we use those -- the meter-men in 2015 actual for capital works to install the WiMAX systems, so the cost for maintenance went down, and it went to become capital for the WiMAX.  The WiMAX is basically completed, and we expect the 2016 meter cost to go back up to the normal value.

MR. RICHLER:  Staying on this meter expense line, had Milton installed all of its smart meters before the 2011 application?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We were complete in 2010.

MR. RICHLER:  And so I take it that none of the 2016 test-year numbers have been revised in light of the update to the 2015, the -- in light of the 2015 unaudited actuals.  Your OM&A changes to that part of this table, you haven't changed the budget at all for 2016; is that correct?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We have not changed 2016 based on the 2015 unaudited balances; that is correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  And this might be a good opportunity just to clarify one thing, which I think I heard you say during examination-in-chief this morning, where you said that while you were happy to respond to requests for information, you were still relying on your ask set out in your initial application, and you referenced the August 2015 application.  So what I really just wanted to clarify is, I recall that the numbers in your August application were updated in December.  So I just wanted to clarify that not everything in the August application is still current, right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.  It's the 10-million-122 that was updated through the IR process.

MR. RICHLER:  That's what I thought.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Sorry, I missed that.

MR. RICHLER:  Still on this table, if we look at the maintenance subtotal we see an erratic pattern.  Spending is up and down and up and down.  Why do these expenditures vary so much from year to year?

MR. MCKENZIE:  You're referring to the subtotal line for -- that begins in 2011 with 976,000?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That row across?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  The anomaly is in 2013 when we reported a provision for the ice storm.  It was reversed in 2014.  So 2016 -- 2013, sorry, would be 1.1 million, and 2014 would have gone up to about 1.3, 1.4, which is consistent across.  1.1, 1.1 for '13, a little bit higher 1.4 for '14, 1.4 for '15.

So if we take out the impact of the provision for the ice storms, then the totals are consistent across the line, across the years.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Let's look at the tree trimming line.  Mr. Shepherd covered this, so I don't have much to add.

But I do recall it -- and you don't have to turn this up, but in response to 4 VECC 24, you said Milton will assess the effectiveness of its tree trimming efforts.  Have you conducted such an assessment?  And if so, what have you found?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We haven't done a formal assessment of whether the tree trimming was the impact.  We have had an improvement in our reliability in 2015, and we will be going back to determine whether that was a determination of the tree trimming programs that we've implemented.  But that has not been done as of yet.

MR. RICHLER:  Are you confident that with the changes to your tree trimming program since the 2013 ice storm, that you're now better prepared to deal with the next big storm, whether that's next year or tomorrow -- which wouldn't surprise me?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No longer the 100-year storm.

MR. RICHLER:  Right.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we do feel better prepared.  We just had the ice storm last week or week and a half ago, and we fared well through that storm.

MR. RICHLER:  Just one more line item to look at.  The billing finals collections row -- and again, Mr. Shepherd touched on this.  But I'm still a bit confused as to why these costs have shown steady growth since 2013.  Wouldn’t one expect to see these costs plateau or decline as the proportion of customers on e-billing increases?

MR. MCKENZIE:  As customers go on e-billing, yes, it does make a difference in postage and paper handling.  But there's still staffing requirements that are included in those numbers as well, and I do believe we have an undertaking to break that out.

MR. RICHLER:  I understand that all new customers are enrolled in e-billing; is that right?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Is there anything else you can do to migrate existing customers to e-billing?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We have run contests that we will advertise, and then we would have a small prize or gift for somebody who we draw a name from.  And our plan is to continue that going forward.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.
Questions by the Board:


MR. THOMPSON:  I have a couple of high level questions, if I might, and its more with respect to the outcomes approach.

The Board is adopting an outcomes approach to evaluate utility revenue requirement requests, and dealing with your OM&A costs and taking the historic period, 2011 to 2015, there’s been a lot of examination on line items and that kind of thing.  But do you accept or do you not accept that the outcomes over that time frame, in terms of cost per customer, OM&A cost per customer are deteriorating?

MR. MCKENZIE:  As part of our Exhibit 1, we filed the cost drivers table and we did match it up with the outcomes that we anticipate as a utility, that were determined by strategic sessions with the Board and senior management.

I wouldn't say our costs have deteriorated.  When we did our customer survey, which was important to us and customers gave us good feedback.  Generally, they were supportive of Milton Hydro.  They understood the cost increases were there and that rates were going to go up. But they did accept that to continue with reliability, that costs changes and rate increases were a requirement.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the number for 2014 actual was in the $240 range, and you tell us that for 2016, it's in this the 270-something-dollar range.  In your mind, is that evidence of some deterioration?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, I would say not.  It's evidence of additional programs that we have implemented, software that will help us improve and meet some of our outcomes of reliability, customer satisfaction, customer communications.  And I mentioned before that we've implemented SCADA outage management systems and GIS system, which going forward will help us to meet and improve on those outcomes for customers.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let's look beyond 2016 now and others have questioned you about this, but do you forecast customers out five years?  And my question is what is the anticipated level of customers in 2021, roughly?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We typically have been using, based on meetings with subdivision developers, about 1,500 customers a year.

And as I mentioned earlier through one of the interrogatories, using our forecast numbers we have been very close to meeting our forecasts over the time periods.

MR. THOMPSON:  So five years would be 7,500.  We add that to 37,000 and we get 44,500 roughly.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that where you think you'll be in 2021, okay.  Do you also internally have five-year plans for O&M expenses?

MR. MCKENZIE:  We do try and forecast out for three years that would present to the town as our shareholder, and we can go out as far as five.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, have you done that?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Have we --

MR. THOMPSON:  Have you done the three?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Have you taken it out to five?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can you give us those numbers by undertaking?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So one could take those numbers in terms of dollars, take your forecast of customers and come up with an estimated cost per customer for the next five years?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That's correct, we could do that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you do that, please?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Certainly.

MR. THOMPSON:  And your expectation is that is going to be flat or -- that’s what I thought you said.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, we expect it to smooth out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Just shifting to another area on outcomes and comparators and so on, there are in your slides and the evidence reference to a number of other utilities that you have put in in comparator groups, and my question is, first of all, which are the ones that are closest to you geographically?  Is that Burlington, Oakville, Waterloo North, and Halton Hills?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Yes, most of the utilities are on page 11 of the presentation.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you had to pick the five that were geographically closest to you, which would they be?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Be Burlington, Oakville, Halton Hills, Guelph, Cambridge.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is Kitchener in there?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Kitchener is close, yes.  And Waterloo.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you were asked to identify the five utilities that were most comparable to what you are currently and what you expect to be, would most of those utilities be in the group?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Of the ones identified, Burlington, Oakville, Cambridge, Guelph, Halton Hills, Waterloo North would be -- Halton Hills is a smaller utility, but it is -- we do boundary on Halton Hills.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I think that's all I have.  Well, let me just ask this.  In terms of those neighbouring utilities, do you share information on ongoing basis with respect to your respective benchmarks like your OM&A cost per customer and that kind of thing?  Is there some sharing -- so would you, for example, know informally what the 2015 numbers of those utilities are?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, not 2015.

MR. THOMPSON:  You don't have a protocol of getting together with those people to measure how you're doing versus how they're doing?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, not at the present time.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much.  Those are my questions.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Just a follow-up on that last question.  I guess in your slide 12 you do show a number of utilities that have OM&A per customer lower than yours, some in the extreme lower by as much as maybe 20, and just reading roughly the graph 20 to 25 percent lower than yours.

Why is it then that if there is that much difference you wouldn't take a more formal benchmarking approach to find out what they do differently?

MR. MCKENZIE:  From my experience, typically distributors have not shared that type of information.  I don't know if we get it through operations councils or anything like that.  No.

MR. LASOWSKI:  One of the things that Milton has done is -- and they are listed in sort of that group, but there is a group of ten utilities which consists of the four Halton utilities, Kitchener, Waterloo, Guelph, Niagara Falls, and Kingston, and we have gotten together formally to try to find mechanisms to offset some of those OM&A costs, so we are looking at joint purchasing, we're looking at joint inventory, we're doing a lot of those things.  We don't necessarily benchmark it, but we're looking at, where can we do it, so another example of it, you know, basically the ice storm, we now have a joint emergency response that if one of us runs into problems we can rely on each other.

So we are doing things along those lines, as opposed to just sort of benchmarking and saying this is the number.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  One other question.  A number of times it was mentioned that you either decided to bring work in or contract work out.  Two-part question, really.  One is, do you know roughly percentage-wise, whether it's dollars or FTEs, how much of your OM&A work is contracted out?

MR. MCKENZIE:  No, not on a numbers or percentage.  We contract out on an as-needed basis, but I couldn't tell you right now.  We could come up with a percentage for you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah.  The next part of my question really is, I'm assuming some of that contracted-out work is ongoing work.  Not all of it is temporary work.  That's my interest, really.  Like, how do you decide if it is ongoing work if it is more efficient to do it through a contractor than to do it in-house, and I guess by giving me that percentage it would help us understand how much of that -- I'm talking going OM&A work specifically.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Right.  Okay.  Understood.  And we do have ongoing work.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.

MR. MCKENZIE:  That --


DR. ELSAYED:  The next part -- the second part of my question, is what criteria do you use to determine whether that work is best done in-house or by a contractor.


By the way, is your workforce unionized?

MR. MCKENZIE:  Our workforce is, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  And is there an issue as far as contracting work out --


MR. MCKENZIE:  No, it hasn't been.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. MCKENZIE:  And some of the contracts that we have are to do with our CIS, so it's a level of expertise.  And if the contracting out does not -- is not a full-time position or full-time work, then we would contract out until a point in time when it became work that could be done by an internal person.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  These are all my questions.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair, do we have an undertaking then, to provide the breakdown --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah, if you could.

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair, I was about to interject.  I failed to announce an undertaking number for the undertaking given in response to Mr. Thompson's question about the forecast customer numbers, so we'll call that J1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.12 (2):  TO PROVIDE THE BREAKDOWN OF THE FORECAST CUSTOMER NUMBERS.

MR. RICHLER:  And then do I understand that you will also undertake to explain how much of your OM&A work is contracted out?

MR. MCKENZIE:  That is correct.

MR. RICHLER:  So that will be J1.13.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.13:  TO EXPLAIN HOW MUCH OF YOUR OM&A WORK IS CONTRACTED OUT.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry -- I have a --


MR. PEREIRA:  Sorry, the undertakings, the numbering?  I have two 1.12s.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. McKenzie, by my count we're at J1.15 now, but let me -- if I could run through those, and my friend can check on those.  J1.12 was an undertaking to explain the increase in the category of maintenance of underground conductors.  There is an increase from -- between the budget -- the 2015 budget of $39,000 to 102,896 in 2015 actuals.

My J1.13 was a response to -- was to provide a response to Mr. Thompson's question about a five-year forecast of OM&A expenditures.

Following immediately on that would have been J1.14, estimating a cost per customer for the next five years, and finally, Dr. Elsayed's question about the percentage of OM&A work that's contracted out.

MR. MCKENZIE:  If I could just say, my counting was 13 was to provide a forecast on the number of customers and the OM&A and to determine an OM&A per customer for the five-year forecast period, if that's --


MR. THOMPSON:  That was my understanding, one undertaking.

MR. MCKENZIE:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Then we're all clear?

MR. RICHLER:  My apologies.  I think I left out -- I forgot to count the underground which, as Mr. Sidlofsky has correctly pointed out, should have been J1.12.  I think if we add that back in, I think we're back on track.

My apologies if we've messed up the transcript a little bit.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  At this point, we are an hour behind exactly.  So Mr. Sidlofsky, is your estimate still for the examination-in-chief for the building we'll be 15 minutes?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  First of all, sir, just to clear up one item, I should say I don't have any re-examination for the panel.

DR. ELSAYED:  I'm sorry, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  But as far as Mr. Lasowski's presentation, I expect it would be about 20 minutes and -- yes, about 20 minutes for that.

DR. ELSAYED:  And, Mr. Shepherd, that has kind of truncated your cross into part of this afternoon and then tomorrow.  Maybe it's best --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm happy to start tomorrow.  I can advise the Board that I had two and a half hours, and I don't have two and a half hours anymore.  I think I have an hour and a half.

DR. ELSAYED:  Why don't we do that?  Why don't we complete the examination-in-chief now, and then we will start with Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination first thing tomorrow morning.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, just before we start that, can I raise a preliminary matter?

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was supposed to raise it earlier and I forgot.  Counsel discussed during the break the deadlines for argument.  We noted that there is quite a number of undertakings and they may take -- we're expecting they will not be tomorrow.

And we therefore collectively propose, if the Board will accept it, that the intervenor and staff argument be moved to April 15th and reply to April 22nd.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can you remind me of the dates now as they stand?

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are the 12th and the 18th now.

DR. ELSAYED:  You're talking four more days.  That's fine, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is it enough to just document that?  All right.  So with that, if you want to proceed, Mr. Sidlofsky.
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Frank Lasowski, Previously Affirmed.

Cameron McKenzie, Previously Affirmed.

Mary-Jo Corkum, Previously Affirmed.

Bruno Pereira, Previously Affirmed.

Aldo Mastrofrancesco, Previously Affirmed.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, I'll just remind the panel that they are still affirmed from their earlier affirmations and I think, in the interests of time, I'll simply take Mr. Lasowski to his presentation, which will constitute his evidence in-chief.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
Presentation by Mr. Lasowski:


MR. LASOWSKI:  Thank you, and I'm pleased to present our presentation with respect to the building itself.

In the sense of a background, it would be worthwhile to go back, and in 2009, we actually went into a leased spared space on Lawson Road.  We did sign a five-year lease which was scheduled to expire in 2014, but were granted an extension until December 2015.

When we moved into the facilities at Lawson Road, we did have a property at 5th and Main, and you'll hear me reference these properties.  At that time, there was an expectation that the town would be providing some of the hard servicing water and sewers sometime in that five-year period of that lease that was signed for Lawson Road.

However, by sometime in 2010, it was becoming somewhat evident that that was optimistic and might potentially not happen.  So we started to look at other properties.  Sort of the three concepts we looked at was do we try to continue our lease at Lawson Road, do we proceed with construction of a building at 5th and Main using temporary well and septic systems until permanent facilities were available, or do we sort of abandon 5th and Main and look elsewhere.

We quickly got an answer to extending the lease at Lawson Road, because the landlord indicated that he had used the building and was planning to bring additional equipment from other locations that he had throughout Milton and other places into that building, and really was not interested in maintaining us as a tenant.

We roughly had 30 percent of the building and he was looking to go reclaim the building.  So the lease option was the one year, and therefore we had to move out by the end of '15.

When we were looking at what we needed from a space requirement, the initial requirements based on visitations to other utilities that had recently completed a building was approximately a nine- to 10-acre site, 26,000 square feet of administration space, 37,000 square feet of operations space, and 65,000 of outdoor storage, resulting sort of in a total of 128,000 square feet.

This is just a quick summary of the different locations we did look at throughout the period between 2010 and 2014.  It does list the locations that we were looking at, and some of the issues that were noted for those specific locations.  And unfortunately, none of them proved to be an acceptable solution primarily because we could not reach an agreement.

So in 2014, it basically came down to we had two options that were left for us.  One was the building of our property at 5th and Main, and you'll notice in the top of that slide picture there is a corner property that we had originally even approached in 2009 and 2010, but were unsuccessful to purchase.  But we really needed that purchase of that corner property to get us into an acreage of roughly 7.7, which was still below what our estimated need was, but it was certainly a lot better than had the 6.4 that we had at our property.

In 2013, the adjacent area around that property was being submitted to the Town of Milton for redevelopment.  The property, which is not shown here, but right south was called Evergreen Phase 1.  Our property at this location was in Phase 3 of that development, and there was no specific dates of when that might be developed.

So that certainly was one of the impetus for us to look at doing another option.  We were quite fortunate that in 2014, the property at 2000 Chisholm did become available, and in there you'll see I listed sort of what the expected costs were not only to build at Fifth and Main, but also what it would cost to us to purchase and then renovate the property at Chisholm.

You'll see the total cost basically was approximately a million dollars less if we did do the Chisholm property.

Just for clarity, we did include a price for that 1.3 acres at the corner property.  We never did go back, but it was assumed -- you'll notice I listed 800,000.  The owner had in 2011 turned down 750, so we felt that's quite a realistic estimate of what it might cost us to purchase that corner property.

Although we did feel that 200 Chisholm was a good site for us, there was one significant shortcoming.  You will recall that we had indicated that we were looking for 65,000 square feet of outdoor space.  Chisholm only had 29,000 square feet, and it became very evident that that would not be sufficient.  And just to give the panel some reference point, we did go out and pull off Google map for you some of the other local utilities have recently gone through some additions and what they have.

So here you have Waterloo north, who's got 24 acres in total, and 228,000 square feet of outdoor space.  Guelph Hydro has got 13.8 acres and 104,700 square feet of outdoor space.  Cambridge has just under nine acres, but 140,600 square feet of outdoor storage.

So if you put those sites up you will see that certainly even at Fifth and Main the expected 65,000 square feet was much less than some of the neighbouring utilities, and 29,000 square feet would definitely not be sufficient space, and the decision was basically made that because the building was a little bigger we would have to move some of our inventory that was normally -- would be stored outside with inside the building.

I provided for you here the listing that was put out for 200 Chisholm.  You will notice that there was a first floor of roughly 10,000 square feet, a second-floor office of 9,000 square feet, a mezzanine of 12,800, and a warehouse of roughly 59,000 square feet.

The mezzanine itself was within the warehouse.  It was adjacent to the office space, but it was within the warehouse location.  I've done it here.  I know Jay has graciously presented much bigger drawings, but there is the first-floor renovations to the building, the second-floor renovations to the building.

Now, there has been certainly different terminology, and I think to assist everybody in how the square footages should be utilized I've listed the office mezzanine warehouse that was originally in that listing that I had just shown a couple slides ago, some of the square footages that were submitted in our original cost of service, and to be a little more consistent in how the applications and ratios are going to be used, we've taken that space and modified it to administration and operations.

So in essence, you'll notice that the total warehouse is back to 5,028 square feet of operations from the original submission in the cost of service of 48,000, and that's because the space within the warehouse was renovated to accommodate the operation areas, such as the meter shop, locker room, and our own area where we have our maps.

Because the 20,000 square feet of the office was insufficient, we had to go and expand into the mezzanine level.  From the building code requirements, they would make a distinction between an office and the warehouse, and wherever that boundary line became had to be a fully rated firewall.  So we were stuck with the requirement of saying that we roughly wanted only 6,000 or 7,000 square feet of that office, but ended up making the decision to enclose the whole mezzanine area such that we would not need two firewalls, we would only need one, which gave us the 32,000 square feet of office -- of administration space.

Here is what -- that 5,000 square feet of future surplus mezzanine space.  All we really did is, if you look at the slide, the wall that is on the left is now the firewall.  The wall on the right is a normal office wall, which would have had to have been a firewall if we had left the mezzanine open, and the left wall would be open to the warehouse.  There was no wall there as part of the mezzanine.

Because it was -- all the work that was done was to complete this wall and finish the floor, we can very easily track the cost to basically enclose an additional 5,000 square feet, and that cost was $101,000.

Here is a table that was put forward to us from the OEB, and it's basically a comparator between some of the recent submissions to the Board, as well as ours.  So the top of this table is the actual submission that was given to us from the OEB.  And I've taken sort of that application, duplicated down on the bottom as the applied one, and then did some modifications based on what we had to do.

So the next two columns after the applied submission is what was done to say that we took the 65,000 square feet of outdoor storage space that was really needed, and since we only had 29,000, basically removed the 36,000 square feet of building, which brought down the whole building to 55,000 square feet.  And now that brought our square foot per full-time employee down from roughly 1,500 to just over 900.

The next two columns, all I've done there is taken out that 5,000 square feet of surplus space, redid the calculations, and you'll see that the square footage per FTE now goes down to 826 on the admin and operations -- the whole building, and down to 678 for the administration only.

The next two columns I think are fairly explicit, and all we have done is said, leave everything the way it is and just project to what the numbers would be if we went to -- and in our internal discussions we have looked at the possibility of increasing our staff by eight people between now and 2021, and those are the calculations based on those additional eight staff.  And then you can see what happens if we also take out the outside storage.

So the last two columns really reflect the ratios of square footage per full-time employee based on the reduction of 36,000 square feet of building for outside storage, as well as the 69 employees versus the 61.

However, I think one of the key factors that has to be looked at is really what did this building cost us.  And you will see again the table at the -- other than the last column is something that was provided by the OEB Staff.  And it shows that our building for property and building and renovations came in at roughly $158 per square foot, which is significantly lower than some of the other buildings that are listed as a reference point.

The Innisfil and Waterloo North are both operations and admin, whereas the Hydro Ottawa one is also one, but much larger as a utility size than Milton is, and obviously our cost per square foot is better, but our dollars per full-time employee are obviously significantly different, because Ottawa is such a big utility.

I think one of the key things here is that it is this total cost of the building that goes into the rate base and which the end users end up paying for, and certainly I think at $158 it is a very cost-effective building.  Well, 30 percent below the rate group.

The only other thing that I wanted to bring to the Panel's attention is, that is $158 per square foot including the land.  And Milton being part of the GTA, land is fairly expensive, so that is another example of how cost-effective it is.

And if you look at just what the building and the renovations cost us, that number drops down to $108 per square foot.

It should also be noted that these costs are prior to an annualized revenue offset of roughly $88,000 for the full five-year period of cost of service that we are given back based on the sale of the Fifth and Main property.  Once we moved here we deemed that that was no longer necessary.

So certainly I think hopefully we've proved to the panel that the purchase and renovation of 200 Chisholm was a very prudent and cost-effective decision.  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

Okay.  So we will resume tomorrow morning at 9:30 with the cross-examination unless there are preliminary matters by Mr. Shepherd, so with that we're adjourned for today, and we'll see you tomorrow.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:47 p.m.
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